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Brigham Young and Orson Pratt are both regarded as valiant leaders during the first
generation of the restored Church. Both worked mightily in the missionary field and
showed themselves stalwart defenders of the faith. Yet there were differences between
them. Those differences were not hidden to the Latter-day Saints of the past century;
they were referred to in conference sermons and in statements and retractions in the
Deseret News and Millennial Star. In retracing the fascinating course of theological
differences Gary James Bergera reminds us that dedicated leaders could disagree on
points of doctrine and that the capacity to submit to higher authority when larger
interests of the Kingdom are involved is itself a mark of greatness. It is worth em-
phasizing, too, that the differences sometimes separating Brigham Young and Orson
Pratt were never as great or as fundamental as their common bonds.

[N] early every difficulty that arises in the midst of the inhabitants of
the earth, is through misunderstanding; and if a wrong in intent and
design really exists, if the matter is canvassed over in the manner I
have advised, the wrong-doer is generally willing to come to terms.

—Brigham Young1

AMONG THE MANY PERCEPTIONS shared by faithful adherents of the Church of
Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, few are as strongly inculcated or pervasive
as that of harmony among church leaders. From their faith's 1830 inception,
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Orson Pratt (late 1840s or early 1850s)

Mormons have been commanded, "[B]e one; if ye are not one ye are not
mine."2 Nowhere is this sentiment more keenly asserted than within the
presiding quorums of the First Presidency and Twelve Apostles—collec-
tively, a small, tightly-knit group of Mormonism's elite. Former President and
Historian Joseph Fielding Smith said, "There is no variance among the
teachers in Israel concerning the principles of the gospel. We are united
concerning these things. There is no division among the authorities, and
there need be no divisions among the people, but unity, peace, brotherly
love, kindness and fellowship one to another."3 In spite of such well-
intentioned reassurances, Mormonism's own turbulent history suggests that
even within these church councils interpersonal conflict occasionally flares
up.

Specifically, the little known conflict between President Brigham Young
and Apostle Orson Pratt extended throughout the web of Mormon interper-
sonal and ecclesiastical relationships.

II

Five years after their arrival in the West, Mormon leaders began a public
relations move calculated to offset public outrage over their recent an-
nouncement of plural marriage. High-ranking church authorities were called
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Brigham Young (1850s)

to large cities in the West, the mid-West and the East to oversee publication of
pro-Mormon newspapers. Their purpose, as specified by Brigham Young,
was to provide non-Mormon readers with a more positive view of church
activities in the Rocky Mountains, with special emphasis on plural marriage.

Apostle Orson Pratt was the first church official to receive such an ap-
pointment.4 His call came at the close of the August 1852 special conference
held in conjunction with the public announcement of polygamy, which Pratt
himself had delivered at Young's request. Pratt's early assignment showed, in
part, his high standing and esteem among church councils and members.5

Arriving at his field of labor, Washington, D.C., in early December, Pratt
began immediate negotiations for the publication of his brainchild, The
Seer—named in honor of the martyred Joseph Smith. When the first sixteen-
page issue appeared during the last week of December, Pratt reported to
Young, "I have taken the Seer to seven different book Stores and periodical
depots in this city, and left them for sale on commission, but I have not heard
of even one copy being sold.

. . . I have had large hand bills about 2 feet square handsomely printed
on good paper to be posted up in front of the book stores; many are so
prejudiced that they would be ashamed to have such a bill before their
door; while other booksellers, after reading the Seer refused to offer
them for sale and requested me to take them away, and the people
generally dare not enquire for a Mormon paper, because they are
ashamed to do so.6



10 I DIALOGUE: A Journal of Mormon Thought

Much of the Washington-based book trade's apprehension no doubt
stemmed from Apostle Pratt's characteristically bold presentation. His pros-
pectus left no room for question as to his intentions: "The views of the Saints
in regard to the ancient Patriarchal Order of Matrimony, or Plurality of Wives, as
developed in a Revelation, given through JOSEPH the SEER, will be fully
published." [Emphasis in original.]7 Ever true to his word, Pratt printed in the
inaugural number Smith's 1843 relevation on "celestial marriage," appending
to it an extended commentary by the Apostle himself.8

The effort of writing, editing and publishing the monthly journal was
considerable. Since he had other responsibilities as the Church's east coast
representative, the weight of his calling was heavy indeed. "Every item,"
Pratt wrote to Young, "yet admitted into the Seer has been new matter of my
own composition. It is no small task to write 112 pages of printed matter as
large as the Seer.9 I am confident that I will have to rest my mind a little and
exercise my body more in order to preserve my health."10 He left the United
States that month for England, an earlier and much loved field of missionary
labor, remaining until September. While there, the diligent Pratt took his
sixth plural wife.

Following his return home to the nation's capital, he wrote his older
brother, Parley, expressing his own hopes and fears:

Writing has always been tedious to me, but seeing the good that may
be accomplished, I have whipped my mind to it, till I am nearly bald-
headed, and grey-bearded, through constant application.

I almost envy the hours as they steal away, I find myself so fast
hastening to old age. A few short years, if we live, will find us among
the ranks of the old men of the earth; and how can I bear to have it so
without doing more in this great cause? . . . [Y]ou would no doubt
counsel me to be patient, but I would remark, that I sometimes fear
that while I am waiting with patience that the day of my probation will
be past and that I may be called away before I have prevaled with God
as did the ancients. I will try, my dear brother, to be patient, but
sometimes my anxieties are so great that it is hard to wait. [Emphasis in
original.]11

In his role as defender of the faith, Pratt had few equals. In time, however,
these very gifts would earn him not only distant respect but the fear of his
own church president.

The first inkling he had of Young's growing disapprobation came by mail
in early November 1853. In a letter dated September 1, Young advised Pratt
that certain points of doctrine treated in the pages of the Seer "are not Sound
Doctrine, and will not be so received by the Saints." [Emphasis in original.]12

This criticism was general, not specific. Pratt had received a letter from a close
friend at church headquarters who, evidently privy to a less reserved Young,
was able to alert Pratt to several of the President's more pointed accusations.
On November 4, Pratt hurriedly wrote President Young a six-page letter, to
which he attached a short confession.
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It appears that Brigham Young was at odds with the Apostle's reasoning
on a plurality of Gods, a doctrine publicly proclaimed by Joseph Smith two
months before his violent death in June 1844.13 Pratt had defined God as a
quality or attribute rather than a corporeal being. He explained to Young,

[T]he Unity, Eternity, and Omnipresence of God, consisted in the one-
ness, eternity, and Omnipresence of the attributes, such as 'the fulness
of Truth,' light, love, wisdom, & knowledge, dwelling in countless
numbers of tabernacles in numberless worlds; and that the oneness of
these attributes is what is called in both ancient & modern relevations,
the One God besides whom there is non other God neither before Him
neither shall there be any after Him. [Emphasis in original.]

Pratt had also written, "The Father and the Son do not progress in knowledge
and wisdom, because they already know all things past, present, and to
come."14

Significantly, he saw his efforts as designed to reconcile teachings on the
Godhead found in the Bible with those contained in Mormon canon. " [With-
out these arguments I have not the most distant idea how to reconcile them,"
he lamented to Young,

without these arguments I could not stand one moment before argu-
ments brought by our opponents; without these arguments, it would
be entirely vain for me to try & enlighten the world upon this subject
by reason. I could only bear my testimony that there was but one God
as clearly declared in our revelations, & that there were many Gods as
asserted in the same revelations, and there I should have to leave it, as
a stumbling block before the world and as a stumbling block before
many that are honest, though uninformed.

Pratt's sympathies were clearly with those who questioned contradictions,
as they saw them, in Mormon dogma. It was his desire that church teachings
be amenable to human understanding and reasoning rather than a "stum-
bling block." In fact, the majority of his writings stressed the rationality of
the Church. At the onset of The Seer's publication, Pratt had challenged his
non-Mormon readers, "[C]onvince us of our errors of doctrine, if we have
any, by reason, by logical arguments, or by the word of God, and we will be
ever grateful for the information. . . "15 His treatment of plural marriage, for
instance, was founded on the premise of its existence among the prophets
and leaders of ancient Israel.

Clearly, he thought Brigham Young should also be expected to meet
standards of rationality and consistency. "[N] either can I persuade myself,
even now," he wrote, "that minds accustomed to severe thought and medita-
tion as yours have been these many years, can, after due reflection, and
reading the vast number of revelations which seem most clearly to teach
differently, still believe in a doctrine which appears to be so contrary to what
is revealed."16 He added, "It is not through self-will or stubbornness that I
have published what I have upon this subject. I have published, whether
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right or wrong, what I verily and most sincerely believed to be the true
doctrine revealed. . . .

I hope that you will grant me as an individual the privilege of believing
my present views, and that you will not require me to teach others in
the temple, or in any other place that which I cannot without more
light believe in regard to the eternal progression of all Gods in knowl-
edge. I do not ask any one else to believe as I do upon this subject. . . .
(HJad I been persuaded that you did in reality entertain permanent
views contrary to what I have published, I should have kept my views
away from the public, for it is not my perogative to teach publicly that
which the president considers to be unsound.

Pratt enclosed a short, carefully worded confession to be published at
Young's discretion in the church-owned Deseret News. Though never printed,
Pratt's statement was no doubt greeted with relief. His disclaimer read, in
part, "I do most earnestly hope that the Saints throughout the world will
reject every unsound doctrine which they may discover in the 'Seer' or in any
of my writings. Whatever may come in contact with the settled & permanent
views of our president should be laid aside as emanations of erring human
wisdom." [Emphasis in original. ]17

The stage, however, had been set for further confrontation. Pratt would
submit to the demands of President Young, yet he would tenaciously retain
the right to freedom of thought he felt to be beyond Young's ecclesiastical
mandate. In the absence of binding declaration, he saw as his privilege the
right to arrive at knowledge and truth through any means available. Pratt's
reluctance to admit error would serve as the most significant cause of Young's
continued criticism.

Pratt's conversion to Mormonism had come from independent thinking
which led to a disaffection from traditional creeds. Similarly, Brigham
Young's acceptance of the new religion had come after a careful weighing of
the claims of the infant church in terms of his own experience and under-
standing. Some two years had passed between his initial contact with Mor-
mon missionaries and his baptism in 1832. As he later recalled, "I wished time
sufficient to prove all things."18 Privy to private conversations of the hierar-
chy since his appointment to the quorum of the Twelve in 1835, Young knew
well the consequences of extravagant doctrines. Both men realized that many
of the Saints' first attraction to the Church had been brought on by intellectual
questioning. Yet each church authority viewed his basic value from subtly
different perspectives. Young, as president, feared the potentially dangerous
effects of Pratt's logic, while Pratt appreciated the value of a reasoned faith.
The difference, one of emphasis, would become increasingly polarized.

Pratt returned to the Great Salt Lake Valley to deliver his homecoming
report to Church leaders on 3 September 1854. Two weeks later to the day,
Young privately reproached the Apostle during a prayer meeting of ranking
general authorities. He warned Pratt that his interpretation of the omnisci-
ence of God "was a fals doctrin & not true that thare never will be a time to all
Eternity when all the God[s] of Eternity will seace advancing in power knowl-
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edge experience & Glory for if this was the case Eternity would seace to be &
the glory of God would come to an End but all of celestial beings will continue
to advance in knowledge & power worlds without end." The President also
took issue with Pratt's acceptance of Adam's having been created out of the
dust of this earth. Young maintained that Adam "came from another world &
brought Eve with him partook of the fruits of the Earth begat children & they
ware Earthly & had mortal bodies & if we are faithful we should become Gods
as [Adam] was." Apostle Wilford Woodruff recorded that the President "told
Brother Pratt to lay aside his Philosofical reasoning & get revelation from God
to govern & Enlighten his mind more . . . [he] said his [Pratt's] Phylosophy
injured him in a measure. . . ."19

Pratt was not the only member unwilling to embrace certain of Young's
views. Yet his calling as Apostle placed him at the forefront of dissent. Follow-
ing a strong Adam-God statement delivered by Young during the October
1854 general conference, one member observed, "[T]here were some that did
not believe the sayings of the Prophet Brigham. Even our beloved Brother
Orson Pratt told me that he did not believe it. He said he could prove by the
scriptures it was not correct. I felt sorry to hear Professor Orson Pratt say that.
I fear lest he should apostatize."20 The day after these observations, Pratt
addressed the faithful in the Old Tabernacle. Vaguely alluding to present
difficulties, he cautioned those members gathered for the semi-annual con-
ference:

So far as I have ever preached abroad in the world, and published, one
thing is certain, I have not published anything but what I verily believe
to be true, however much I may have been mistaken, and I have
generally endeavored to show the people, from the written word of
God, as well as reason, wherein it was true. This has been by general
course . . .
. . . Previous to declaring a doctrine, I have always inquired in my own
mind, "can this doctrine be proved by revelation given, or by reason,
or can it not? If I found it, could be proved, I for the doctrine; but if I
found there was no evidence to substantiate it, I laid it aside; in all this,
however, I may have erred, for to err is human."21

Eight days later, again facing Mormon faithful, he intimated that his error,
if he had indeed committed one, had not been in writing or preaching doc-
trines out of harmony with those of the church president, for he had not
previously learned of Young's own views: "I do not know that I have this day
presented any views that are different from his: if I have, when he corrects
me, I will remain silent upon this subject, if I do not understand it as he
does."22 His error, as he saw it, was not necessarily in espousing faulty
beliefs, but in possibly expounding doctrines considered contrary to the opin-
ions of the president—which conflict he was unaware of at the time.

Pratt could not help but realize, however, that at least one, perhaps two,
of his teachings were not well received by Young. It may be that Pratt's public
comments were intended to be a not-so-subtle invitation purposely designed
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to incite Young's equally public response. With their disagreements known
by members other than those of the church's top-level leadership, Pratt may
have felt he would have stood a better chance at defending his beliefs.

One month later, the Deseret News announced the publication of Pratt's
edition of Biographical Sketches of Joseph Smith the Prophet, and His Progenitors for
Many Generations, by Lucy Smith, Mother of the Prophet.23 During his fall 1852
journey to Washington, D.C., Pratt had obtained a manuscript dictated by
Joseph Smith's mother relating past events of the Smiths' lives. Pratt, quick to
realize that printing costs in the United States would prohibit its American
appearance, had the manuscript published in England during the summer of
1853 by church representative Samuel W. Richards. In his eagerness, he had
not sought official approval, nor had his editing corrected several textual
errors. Young had been told of Pratt's intentions on 31 December 1852,
though it is doubtful that Pratt thought official approval really necessary. Four
months after the book's appearance in Utah, Pratt informed readers of the
Deseret News that Smith's history did contain some inaccuracies; that Joseph
Smith could not have reviewed it before his death—as Pratt had earlier
assumed—and that all future editions "will be carefully revised and cor-
rected." Obviously Pratt thought the problems were minor and did not seri-
ously detract from the book's value. "If the schools of our Territory would
introduce this work as a 'Reader,' he wrote, "it would give the young and
rising generation some knowledge of the facts and incidents connected with
the opening of the grand dispensation of the last days."24 As additional errors
became apparent, however, Pratt's failure to first secure church sanction re-
sulted in strong condemnation from some leaders. "[T]he brethren would
have made it a matter of fellowship," Young explained five years later. "[I]
did not have it in [my] heart to disfellowship but merely to correct men in
their views."25

During the latter part of 1854, and continuing into the early months of
1855, the Church's English organ, The Latter-day Saints' Millennial Star, edited
by Samuel Richards, had been reprinting several of Pratt's writings from The
Seer. By late January 1855, Brigham Young learned of them and asked
Richards to discontinue republication of the controversial articles. Richards
received Young's letter in early May, and at the latter's request, printed perti-
nent extracts. Though Pratt had earlier hinted that his writings may not have
met Young's unqualified approbation, Young's 1855 letter marked the first
public announcement of this disapproval. Taking note of The Seer's "many
items of erroneous doctrine," the President wrote:

As it would be a lengthy and laborious operation to enter minutely into
their disapproval, I prefer, for the present, to let the Saints have the
opportunity to exercise their faith and discernment in discriminating
between the true and erroneous; and simply request them, while read-
ing the 'Seer,' to ask themselves what spirit they are of, and whether
the Holy Ghost bears testimony to the truth of all the doctrines therein
advocated.26
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Throughout the intervening months, the discourses, both private and
public, of Pratt and Young revealed that neither man had substantially altered
his conflicting views. In Sunday morning services at the Old Tabernacle in
early 1855, Pratt commented on the Mormon concept of opposition as con-
nected to Adam and Eve in the Garden. He also announced "the plurality of
Gods as written by [me] in the 'Seer' [was] for the benefit of Elders who might
be abroad at any [time] preaching to the world." During the afternoon ses-
sion, Young, who had attended the morning services, arose and "spoke to the
Meeting in a very interesting manner referring to several points touched upon
in the morning by Bro. Pratt. Did not seem fully to fancy Orson's idea bout
the 'Great Almighty God' refering so especially to his attributes."27 Less than
two months later, Young, in Pratt's presence, explained his super-scriptural
vision of the creation of this earth. Adam and Eve, Young held, arrived upon
this world having previously earned their exaltation upon another. Their
eternal reward consisted in peopling this earth, "redeeming [Adam's] post-
erity & exhalt[ing] them to all the glory they were capable of receiving."28

Young's interpretation contradicted Pratt's belief in man's physical creation
from the dust of this earth, his subordinate position in relation to Deity and
the eventual acquisition of all knowledge by those who attained ultimate
exaltation.

On 17 February 1856, during a council meeting of the Twelve, Young
pointedly asked Pratt's opinion, of his belief that "intelligent beings would
continue to learn to all Eternity." The outspoken Apostle, with customary
frankness, responded that "he believed the Gods had a knowledge at the
present time of evry thing that ever did exist to the endless ages of all Eter-
nity. He believed it as much as any truth that he had ever learned in or out of
this Church." Young retorted that "he had never learned that principle in the
Church for it was not taught in the Church for it was not true it was fals
doctrin For the God[s] & all intelligent beings would never sease to learn
except it was the Sons of Perdition they would continue to decrease untill
they became dissolved back into their native Element & lost their Identity."29

Three weeks later, both men again locked horns. Samuel Richards re-
corded,

A very serious conversation took place between Prest. B. Young and
Orson Pratt upon doctrine. O. P. was directly opposed to the Prest
views and freely expressed his entire disbelief m them after being told
by the President that things were so and so in the name of the Lord. He
was firm in the Position that the Prest's word in the name of the Lord,
was not the word of the Lord to him. The Prest did not believe that
Orson would ever be Adam, to learn by experience the facts discussed,
but every other person in the room woula if they lived faithful. [Em-
phasis in original.P°

Elder Woodruff, present during this clash, added, "Elder Orson Pratt pur-
sued a course of stubborness & unbelief in what President Young said that
will destroy him if he does not repent & turn away from his evil way For when
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any man crosses the track of a leader in Israel & tryes to lead the prophet—he
is no longer lead by him but in danger of falling."31

Yet Brigham Young recognized Pratt's leadership abilities. It seems doubt-
ful that the Apostle's numerous missionary assignments were motivated only
by Young's unwillingness to tolerate such dissent among Utah Mormons. In
April 1856, Pratt departed the Valley for England where he had twice earlier
assisted in the founding and organization of the church's European mission.
He arrived in Liverpool in mid-July to begin his tenure as mission president.
Shortly thereafter, inflamed by the fires of Mormonism's then-in-progress
Reformation, Pratt published a small pamphlet on the "Holy Spirit," rewrit-
ten in part from a work he had first issued in 1850.32 Despite reassurances to
Young that he would avoid discussion of such topics, Pratt again outlined his
concept of God and associated attributes, adding an additional commentary
on the nature of the Holy Spirit. Pratt conceived this spirit "as a boundless
ocean," possessing "in every part, however minute, a will, a self-moving
power, knowledge, wisdom, love, goodness, holiness, justice, mercy, and
every intellectual and moral attribute possessed by the Father and the Son."33

Through this omnipresent spirit a fullness of godly attributes was to be ob-
tained. Indeed, for Pratt the spiritual tabernacles of the Father, Son and
Holy Ghost, if organized at all, were the result of the many varied combi-
nations and unions of the particles of this indescribable spirit matter. Implicit
in this view was the possibility Young found so distasteful: The Holy Spirit
existed for and enlightened to some extent the Sons of Perdition.

When the work reached Utah, President Young's criticisms were prompt
and unequivocal. Young first made mention of Pratt, still abroad, during a
private meeting in his office on 29 December 1856. Wilford Woodruff reported
that the President said "if he [Pratt] did not take a different course in his
Phylosophy & [illegible] he would not stay long in the Church."34 Young's
personal reservations were rapidly becoming public knowledge. Less than
two months later, he openly decried "our brother philosopher Orson Pratt":

With all the knowledge and wisdom that are combined in the person of
brother Orson Pratt, still he does not yet know enough to keep his foot
out of it, but drowns himself in his own philosophy, every time he
undertakes to treat upon principles that he does not understand. . . .
[H]e is dabbling with things that he does not understand; his vain
philosophy is no criterion or guide for the Saints in doctrine.35

Admittedly dramatic, perhaps purposely so, Young's public position, unlike
past ambiguities, left no room for question in the minds of Mormons: Apostle
Pratt's teachings were not to be relied upon by members as statements of
binding (or even accurate) church doctrine.

Not surprisingly, Pratt felt Young's blanket denunciation unjust, his criti-
cisms too general, condemning as they did virtually all of Pratt's writings. On
24 March 1858, two months after his arrival home, Pratt brought formal
complaint against his President before the First Presidency and Quorum of
the Twelve. Apostle Woodruff, who presented Pratt's complaints, explained
that Pratt
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did not believe in some of the teachings of President Young and
thought Young had reproved him unjustly. The subject was discussed
at length by the Twelve and President Young, much instruction was
given at the close Orson Pratt confessed his faults and said that he
would never teach those principles again or speak them to any person
on the earth we all forgave him and voted to receive him into full
fellowship.36

What had begun as an official inquest initiated by Pratt himself resulted in
near disfellowshipment for the outspoken Apostle.

For nearly two years Pratt's public discourses were remarkably free of
speculations. However, on Sunday, 11 December 1859, he again proclaimed
his notions of the Godhead to church members gathered in the Tabernacle for
weekly religious services, explaining that "it was the attributes of God that he
worshiped and not the person & that he worshiped those attributes whether
he found them in God Jesus Christ Adam Moses the Apostles Joseph Brigham
or in anybody Else."37

It may never be fully known why Orson Pratt undertook public espousal
of a topic he knew to be inviting official reprimand. He may have consciously
attempted to initiate a formal response to his doctrinal writings. If so, his
calculations proved unquestionably successful, for they precipitated two offi-
cial statements of censure.

Ill

Orson Pratt's December sermon prompted several general authorities to
suggest that they meet to discuss the apostle's continued excesses.38 Within
less than two months, Young called to order in his Council Room a high level
meeting of Church leaders on Friday, 27 January 1860, at 6:00 P.M. This august
group included members of the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles, Presidents
of the Seventy, the Presiding Bishop, church secretaries and lesser au-
thorities.

At the onset, Young announced, "[T]he object of the Meeting [is] to con-
vers upon Doctrinal Points to see if we see alike & think alike. I Pray that we
may have the spirit of God to rest upon us that our minds may be upon the
subject & that we may speak by the Holy Ghost."39

The President asked Apostle Albert Carrington to read the press copy of
Pratt's recent discourse. Young had seen to it that of those present, only
Carrington, Pratt and Young himself had been informed of its authorship. Yet
it is doubtful that the majority present were unaware of Pratt's guilt. When
Young asked those who supported Pratt's views on "attributes" to manifest it
by saying "Yes," the room was silent. He then announced,

This is O Pratts sermon prepared for the Press. I do not want it pub-
lished if it is not right. Brother Orson worships the attributes of God
but not God I worship not the attributes but that God who hold and
dispenses [them] if Eternity was full of attributes and not one to dis-
pense them they would not be worth a feather . . . Joseph [Smith] said
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to us I am a God to this people & so is any man who is appointed to
lead Israel or the Kingdom of God if the people reject him they reject
the one who sent him but we will let that drop, and turn to the other
subject now.

"[SJuppose," he postulated, "we were all to receive a fulness of the attri-
butes of God and according to Orson Pratts theory the Lord had a fulness and
he could not advance but we could advance till we were equal to him then if
we worshiped the attributes instead of God we would soon worship our-
selves.

. . . [Y]ou would then worship the attributes & not the dispenser of
those attributes 'this is fals doctrine' God did not say worship Moses
because he was a God to the people, you may say to your wife or son
do so & so. they will say I will not out I will go to a greater man I will go
to Brigham Young, you might say I am your councillor Dictator or
you[r] God. Either would be correct and they should obey your Just &
righteous Command yet they should not worship you for this would be
sin. Orson Pratt has differed from me in many things. But this is a great
principle & I do not wish to say you shall do so & so I do not know of a
man who has a mathematical turn of mind but what goes to[o] Far The
trouble between Orson Pratt & me is I do not know enough & he
knows too much. I do not know everything There is a mystery concern-
ing the God I worship which mystery will be removed when I come to
a full knowledge of God . . . Wnen I me[e]t the God I worship I expect
to [meet] a personage with whom I have been acquainted upon the
same principle that I would to meet my Earthly Father after going upon
a Journey & returning home.

Several apostles voiced their support of Young's remarks. Some added
similar views. Apostle Woodruff, in comments seconded by others, re-
marked,

[I]t is our privalege so to live as to have the spirit of God to bear record
of the Truth of any revelation that comes from God through the mouth
of his Prophet who leads his people and it has ever been a key with me
that when the Prophet who leads presents a doctrine of principle or
says thus saith the Lord I make it a policy to receive it even if it comes
incontact with my tradition or views being well satisfied that the Lord
would reveal the truth unto his Prophet whom he has called to lead his
Church before he would unto me, and the word of the Lord through
the prophet is the End of the Law unto me.

Throughout the evening's lengthy meeting, Pratt had remained remarka-
bly subdued. Though the solitude of his position weighed heavily upon him,
his convictions were solidly founded. He finally mentioned his desire to
speak.

I have not spoken but once in the Tabernacle since conference I then
spoke upon the revelations in the Doctrine & Covenants concerning
the Father & son & their attributes . . . I sincerely believed what I
preached, how long I have believed this doctrin I do not know but it
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has been for years I have published it in the Seer. I spoke of a plurality
of Gods, in order to worship God I said that I adored the attributes
wherever I found them I was honest in this matter. I would not wor-
ship a god or Tabernacle that did notpossess Attributes if I did I should
worship Idols . . . Now the reason I worship the Father is because in
him is combined the attributes if he had not those attributes I would
not worship him any more than I would this chair. I cannot see any
difference between myself and Prest. Young. . . . I must have some-
thing more than a declaration of President Young to convince me I
must have evidence.

I am willing to take President Young as a guide in most things but
not in all. President Young does not propose to have revelations in all
things. I am not to loose in my agency I nave said many things which
President Young says is False I do not know how it is I count President
Young equal to Joseph and Joseph equal to President Young.
. . . When Joseph teachs any thing & Brigham seems to teach another
contrary to Joseph . . . I believe them as Joseph has spoken them . . . I
have spoken plainly I would rather not have spoken so plainly but I
have no excuses to make President Young said I ought to make a
confession But Orson Pratt is not a man to make a confession of what I
do not believe. I am not going to crawl to Brigham and act the Hypoc-
rite and confess what I do not Believe. I will be a free man President
Young condemns my doctrines to be fals I do not believe them to be
fals which I published in the Seer in England. . . . I will not act the
Hypocrite it may cost me my fellowship But I will stick to it if I die
tonight I would say O Lord God Almignt[y] I believe what I say.

Pratt's dramatic declaration caught most by surprise. Young said,
"Orson Pratt has started out upon false premises to argue upon his founda-
tion has been a false one all the time and I will prove it false.

"You have been like a mad stubborn mule," he turned to Pratt,
and have taken a fals position in order to accuse me you have accused
me of worshiping a stalk or stone or a dead body without life or attri-
butes you never herd such a doctrin taught by me or any leader of the
Churcn it is fals as Hell and you will not hear the last of it soon. You
know it is false Do we worship those attributes No we worship God
because he has all those Attributes and is the dispenser of them and
because he is our Father & our God. Orson Pratt puts down a lie to
argue upon he has had fals ground all the time tonight . . .
Again, those authorities in attendance sided with their President. Apostle

Hyde said to Pratt, "My opinion is not worth as much to me as my fellowship
in this Church." Others added their words of harsh rebuke. Pratt, according
to the official minutes, offered no further defense. Before the close of the
six-hour meeting, Young remarked,

I will tell you how I get along with Joseph. I found out that God called
Joseph to be a Prophet I did not do it. I then said I will leave the
Prophet in the hands of that God who called and ordained him to be a
Prophet. He is not responsible to me and it is none of my business
what he does. It is for me to follow & obey him. . . . I told Brother
Joseph he had given us revelation enough to last us 20 years when that
time is out I can give as good revelation as their is in the Doctrine &
Covenants.
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. . . [N]o man can live his religion without living in revelation but I
would never tell a revelation to the Church unless Joseph told it first.
Joseph once told me to go to his own house to attend a meeting with
him he said that he should not go without me. I went and Hiram
Preached upon the Bible Book of Mormon & Doctrine & Covenants and
says we must take them as our guide alone he preached very lengthy
until he nearly wearied the people out when he closed Joseph told me
to get up. I did so I said that I would not give the ashes of a rye straw
for all those books for my salvation without the living oracles. I should
follow and obey the living oracles for my salvation instead of anything
else when I got through Hyrum got up and made a confession for not
understanding the living oracles.

"It may be thought strange by the Brethren," he added, "that I will still
fellowship Elder Pratt after what he has said but I shall do it, I am determined
to whip Brother Pratt into it and make him work in the harness."

Though the veteran Apostle had no doubt anticipated, perhaps even ini-
tiated the tense meeting, it may have come as personally unsettling that he
had stood against his President. Intelligent, courageous, unyielding and now
very much alone, Pratt painfully began to realize the gravity of the situation in
which he found himself—not only in relation to his quorum, but with increas-
ing importance to his church.

The following day, Pratt called early upon Young at the latter's office. The
bearded Apostle readily admitted "he was excited, and for the future would
omit such points of doctrine in his discourses that related to the Plurality of
Gods, &c. but would confine himself to the first principles of the Gospel." He
asked if Young could not find a vacancy for "his son Orson" as a clerk. To his
surprise, the President replied that he would attempt to appoint Apostle Pratt
as a teacher, "as [Young] meant to promote education as much as possible."

Young again remarked that "much false doctrine arose out of arguing
upon false premises, such as supposing something that does not exist, as a
God without his attributes, as they cannot exist apart." Pratt replied, as he
had also on past occasions, that "many of his doctrinal arguments had been
advanced while in England in answer to the numerous enquiries that were
made of him by reasoning men." Young was not sympathetic, and added,
"[W]hen questions have been put to me, by opposers, who did not want to
hear the simple Gospel message [I] would not answer them." Young asked
Pratt "why he was not as careful to observe the revelations given to preach in
plainness and simplicity as to so strenuously observe the doctrines in other
revelations."40 Existing records give no mention of Pratt's response, if, in-
deed, one was made.

As leading General Authorities and faithful church members met in Sun-
day morning services at the Old Tabernacle the next day, only one man
present—other than Pratt himself—was aware of the potentially momentous
discourse to be delivered from the podium.41 Pratt had earlier discussed with
fellow Apostle, Ezra T. Benson, the propriety of publicly commenting on
Friday evening's meeting. Wilford Woodruff, one of many Saints in at-
tendance, recorded his own amazement and relief at Pratt's apparent confes-
sion:
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Orson Pratt was in the stand and Quite unexpected to his Brethren he
arose before his Brethren and made a very humble full confession
before the whole assembly for his opposition to President Young and
his Brethren . . . I never herd Orson Pratt speak better or more to the
satisfaction of the People, then on this occasion, he would not par-
take of the sacrament untill he had made a confession then he partook
of it.42

In the course of his continuing confession, Pratt made direct reference to
his recent encounter with church leadership. As he gained the pulpit he asked
his audience, "Where are there two men in the world who see eye to eye?—
that are of the same mind? They can scarcely be found. I doubt whether they
can be found in the world. Within a world dominated by disunity and confu-
sion stands before all men and women a standard: the Gospel of Jesus Christ.

Orson Hyde
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The authority of Jesus Christ sent down from heaven, conferred upon
man by His Holy Angels, or by those that may have previously re-
ceived divine authority, is the true and only standard here upon the
face of our earth; and to this standard all people, nations, and tongues
must come, or be eventually taken from the earth; for this is the only
authority which is everlasting and eternal; and which will endure in
time ana throughout all eternity.

"There are some points of doctrine," he said, "which I have unfortu-
nately, without knowing beforehand what the views of the First President of
this church of God were, thrown out before the people." Echoing earlier
apologies, he maintained that initially he "did most sincerely believe that they
were in accordance with the word of God." Only later was he to learn from
"the mouth of our President Brigham from the mouth of that person whom
God has placed at the head of this church, that some of the doctrines I had
advanced in the 'Seer' at Washington were incorrect. It was my duty as a
servant of God to have at once yielded my judgement to his judgement," he
admitted. "But I did not do it."

I did not readily yield. I believed at the time that he was as sincere in
his views and thoughts as I was in mine; and thought that I had made
up my mind upon the word of God in relation to the matter, and
concluded that it was not my duty to yield my judgement to him. . . .
The consequence has been, I have oftentimes felt to mourn, have been
sorrowful in my own mind in relation to this matter . . .

When I say, I am going to repent of these things, I mean that I am
going from this time henceforth, through the grace of God assisting
me, to try and show by my acts and by my words, that I will uphold
and support those whom God has placed over me to govern, direct and
guide me in the things of this kingdom.

I do not know that I shall be able to carry out those views; but these
are my present determinations. I may have grace and strength to per-
form this' and perhaps I may henceforth be overcome, I feel exceed-
ingly weak in regard to these matters.

The errant Apostle briefly mentioned other areas of disagreement between
the president and himself. In every instance, however, whether those in-
volved be apostles or rank-and-file church members, Pratt said, when one's
personal beliefs or opinions come in conflict with those of the church presi-
dent, one must yield to his more authoritative judgment:

If the Prophet of the living God, who is my standard, lays down a
principle, whether it be a principle of doctrine, or a principle in philos-
ophy, or a principle in science, or a principle pertaining to anything
whatever, it is not for you nor me to argue against it, and set up our
standard, and our views, and our judgement in order to make a divi-
sion goes no further than our own individual selves. We must bow, if
we would bring about the oneness spoken of in the revelations of God.
We must yield to those things; and it is my determination to do so.

And if a prophet "should lay down a principle in philosophy which to all
human appearance appears to be perfectly incorrect?" Then, Pratt replied, "I
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John Taylor (1850s)

would say I am weak . . . If I cannot fully understand his views, it is my duty
at least to be silent in regard to my own."

"These, " the Apostle concluded, "are my feelings to br. Brigham. I will
make reconciliation to him . . . in so far as I have been stubborn and not
yielded to the man God has ordained to lead me. I consider these to be true
principles, however imperfect.I may have been; it has nothing to do with the
principles; the principles are from heaven, let br. Pratt do as he will: Amen."

Relief no doubt engulfed the forty-eight-year-old general authority as he
regained his seat. He had openly acknowledged his error in publicly espous-
ing beliefs and doctrines regarded as incorrect by his President; reaffirmed his
own conviction in the necessity of aligning one's thoughts and actions with
those of God's appointed servants; and committed himself to refrain from
further public speculation, though expressing his deep-felt concern at his
ability to do so. His confession and repentance genuine, Orson Pratt probably
settled back a little more comfortably into his chair.

Two days after his confessional sermon, Pratt called again upon Young at
the president's office and there "made a personal acknowledge to the Presi-
dent admitting he had a self willed determination in him." Young consoled
him: "he had never differed with him only on points of doctrine, and he never
had had any personal feelings, but he was anxious that correct doctrines
should be taught for the benefit of the Church and the Nations of the Earth."
The President also remarked that Pratt "had been willing to go on a mission to
any place at the drop of the Hat and observed you might as well question my
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authority to send you on a mission as to dispute my views in doctrine." Pratt
responded, though indirectly, that "he had never felt unwillingness in the
discharge of his practical duties."43

Despite Young's apparent congeniality, the Apostle's Sunday discourse
had not solved the problem. Before the close of the week, Young, aided by his
second counselor, Daniel H. Wells, was examining extracts from Pratt's Seer
writings.44 Saddened and angered, Young related to Wells that "there were
many principles that the world were unworthy to receive; for they would only
trample on it." The President confessed, "If [I] had ever erred it was in giving
too much revelation; instead of not giving enough. The Lord designed keep-
ing those in ignorance who would not Seek unto him; and would impart
knowledge to those who Kept his commandments."45

Twelve days later, Elder Ezra T. Benson, at Young's request, visited with
the President in his office where he "had some conversation with the Prest
about Orson Pratt's discourse, on the subject of attributes."46 Later, on March
4, Young, together with First Counselor Kimball and Apostles Woodruff,
Taylor, and Lorenzo Snow, met with Counselor Wells, convalescing from a
recent illness, at his home. During their visit, Young again affirmed,

I did not say to [Pratt] that God would increase to all Eternity. But I said
that the moment that we say that God knows all things Comprehends
all things and has a fulness of all that He ever will obtain that moment
Eternity ceases you put bounds to Eternity & space & matter and you
make an end and stoping place to it. . . . No man can understand the
things of Eternity And Brother Pratt and all men should let the matter
of the gods alone I do not understand these things Neither does any
man in the flesh and we should let them alone.47

What had been for Pratt a sincere, painful declaration of personal repentance
was proving to be but one additional source of conflict.

In keeping with established procedure, Pratt's January sermon had been
scheduled to run verbatim in the Deseret News, Wednesday's edition, Feb-
ruary 22. Mention of it had previously appeared in a brief, front-page blurb in
the February 1 issue of that Mormon newspaper. The day before its complete
printing, however, a dissatisfied Young ordered the discourse removed from
the front page and an insertion explaining its absence put in its place.48

Ironically, the closing comments of Pratt's lengthy sermon, which had been
pasted-up to run on the second page, were printed before the oversight was
detected. The editor of the News obliquely said, "Through some inadvertency,
part of a sermon that had not been intended for publication in this number got
inserted on the second page and that side of the paper was struck off before
the mistake was discovered."49 Aside from this notice, however, no other
mention was made of the deletion. When Wednesday's edition appeared, it
contained only the ending of Pratt's confession.

Brigham Young had purposely delayed formal action on Pratt's discourse
until April 4, when a majority of apostles would be assembled in Salt Lake City
for church general conference. Unlike January's meeting, this was attended
by only a select few of the church's authorities. United again, with Young
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presiding, were Apostles Hyde, Taylor, Woodruff, Benson, Presiding Bishop
Edward Hunter and Elder George A. Smith, who alone had not been present
at the January 27 meeting. They were belatedly joined by Elders Erastus Snow
and Charles C. Rich.50

As those present began to take their seats, Young turned to Pratt and
asked, "Bro. O. Pratt, has Bro Benson spoken to you about that for which we
have met to night?" The Apostle responded quickly and emphatically, "No!"
"Well it is this bro. Orson," Young returned, echoing an earlier scene:

Your late sermon had like to get into the paper, I want to get an
understanding of your views, and see if we see things aright perhaps if
I could see it as you Orson does perhaps its all that I could ask, but if
not we want to have the matter talked over and laid before the Confer-
ence in a manner that we all see eye to eye . . . I presume bro. Pratt you
have no objections to our taking this course and naving it all laid before
the Conference satisfactorily.

Young asked Secretary Thomas Bullock to read Pratt's confessional ser-
mon from Deseret News galley proofs. As Bullock finished, Young faced those
members of the Twelve present. "Are the 12 satisfied with this & [with] what
Bro. Pratt has put forth to the People? I do not want to do anything but what
will be for the best and promote the public good."

Orson Hyde responded first. "I thought when the prophet pronounced
upon favorite doctrines, it was for us to repudiate ours, and sustain his. . . .
As to whether we should sustain the prophet in every scientifical subject
contrary to our judgement, it might not be policy to say that for invoking a
principle of absolutism which would not look well."

Elder Snow, who had missed the bulk of Young's opening comments (as
well as the Pratt speech itself) followed suit. He launched into a rambling
statement of support for the Lord's anointed, prophets whom he understood
to be "kind fathers, not. . . tyrants & oppressors." Young, perhaps sensing a
drawn-out sermon, interrupted. "Erastus, a few words, be short, the evening
will be spent." Snow hurriedly finished his thought and Young began his
rehearsed criticism. "The sermon is splendid," he said, "but no confession of
his errors, but a confession to me. As though a confession was to be made to
me or I will take off Orson's . . . head." He reached for a copy of the dis-
course. "I wish to correct this," he mentioned, "with items preached by
Orson in the Seer. . . .

Orson wants a revelation to know that I am wrong No matter whether
the men are right or wrong who lead the church. This is not the retrac-
tion that the statements made by Orson demands . . . I'm willing to go
into the endowment house & dress before an [y] Quorum or as we are
now, & or before Conference & lay down item upon item & let them
decide you made attributes Deity [you might] as well say no deity now,
or that we have to be dispersed to receive those attributes [and] go back
to atoms before we get an exaltation. . . . It's a confused mess & I want
to wipe it carefully out & hurt nobody.
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Young gestured to Pratt, "Bro. Orson's honest integrity I know, I dont
doubt them, I never did. When going to England first, he said Pie was]
incapable of taking hold of a paper, he could not treat on new doctrine, he has
gone a head of all the seers & prophets have written & deleanated upon.

"Im either of giving to have the quarelle there or having it go through in a
parental spirit," he said, exasperated.

I want to save bro Orson. I feel calm like an old shoe. If his confession
had been right, I would [have] bound up my particle so that it would
not have hurt his influence. [M]aybe tho he dont think I have revel-
ations], if I dont I dont magnify my calling There are hundreds of thes I
could write revelations as fast as dog[s] trot. When I write & send forth
my Revelations [they] are then . . . as the Rev[elations] of eternity] I
never look at my sermons, I dont cross my tracks. . . .

Turning to face President of the Quorum of the Twelve, Orson Hyde,
Young demanded, "I want a confession that I can send to the whole of the
people that will cover the church & preserve bro. Orson a whole Apostle,
before the whole church, then we want bro Orson that can save him I want
such a thing published all over the world. . . . Thus saith the Lord, '[G]o do
that.' Now you understand what I want, . . . If s not the matter Bro. Orson
has at heart its the manner . . . Bro. Orson Pratt should say I have no judge-
ment upon the matter, or should have had none. Brother O. Pratt what do
you think about it?"

Pratt could see but one response. "I have no doubt but what the first
presidency] & Twelve can get up such a thing that would suit them, I have
tried very hard to bring my feelings & judgement with Bro. Y[oung]s & that
for several years. P]ts my duty to get my judgement I can feel that when a
man's made up he may have strong faith in regard to views that he considers
to be true Revelation.

"There are certain points," he said, "taught by Bro. Y as being true that
there does seem to be disputed between those & the Revel [ations]

& when I reflect that there is—item upon item, doctrine upon
doctrine—I would be a hypocrite if I came out & said that these [are]
views on which I have strong faith [I] would be acting too much a
hypocrite . . . I would like to ennummerate [those] items, first
preached & publish [ed] that Adam is the fa [ther] of our spirits, & father
of Spirit & father of our bodies. When I read the Rev [elations] given to
Joseph I read directly the opposite.
"Your statements to night," Young retorted, "you came out to night and

place them as charges, & have as many against me as I have [against] you.
One thing I have thought I might still have omitted," he said. "It was Joseph's
doctrine that Adam was God when in Luke Johnson's. . . .51 Joseph could not
reveal what was revealed to him, if Joseph had it revealed, he was told not to
reveal it. . . . [There] is not a contradictory thing in what I have said. . . . If I
have said anything that the people were not worthy of," he confessed, "I
have prayed that it might be forgotten.
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I have prayed fervently when Orson published the sealing ordinance
that it might be forgotten. Orson, it is for you to call the 12 together &
do as I have suggested or do as you please. It will [then] be Drought
before conference and you will be voted as a false teacher, & your false
doctrines discarded. I love your integrity, but your ignorance is as great
as any philosophers ought to be.

In the face of Young's ultimatum, Pratt's response was deliberate. "I am
willing you should publish what you have a mind to. I cannot retract from
what I have said. I sometimes feel unworthy of the apostleship which I hold."

As he finished, a flurry of comments exploded. "These are temptations of
Satan." "It is a trick of the Devil to ruin a man, when it is suggested to him
that those who are trying to put him right, are trying to put him down." Pratt
merely responded, "I am willing the twelve should publish all they consider
necessary for the salvation of the church."

At this perceived defiance, Elder George A. Smith took the initiative and
moved that Pratt's controversial doctrines be formally presented before
church membership two days later in conference. Most present, however, did
not share Smith's views and instead voted to have the matter brought up
again the following day before the Twelve. At their action, Young "wished
the Twelve to take hold & pray with Bro. Orson & have a good flow of the
Spirit, & it will go off smooth." The less emotional President added, "Bro
Pratt counts too little on his standing & calling too little, or he would not let
his private judgement, stand between him & his salvation, or he would yield.
But I attribute it to his ignorance."

While offering no additional insights into the fundamental areas of
Young's and Pratt's conflict, except, perhaps, to highlight the issue of
Adam-God more clearly, the 4 April 1860 meeting did serve to further alienate
Pratt from his brethren. Young clearly saw his duty as preventing the freedom
of thought Pratt demanded. Young could hardly disagree with the Apostle's
firm insistence upon revelation as the ultimate determiner of truth. Yet Pratt's
tenacious belief that only personal revelation to himself would provide the
impetus necessary to publicly proclaim his error was greeted by Brigham
Young with understandable frustration. Young was not the revelator Joseph
Smith had been; nor did he lay claim in any significant way to the kind of
theological innovations Smith had earlier imparted to his followers. Young
did not share Pratt's view that direct divine intervention was indispensible in
the formulation of doctrine. Pratt's repeated references in his January 29
discourse to Young as God's appointed representative on the earth strongly
implied, as Young had sensed, that the President did not necessarily repre-
sent the views of the general membership of the Church. Though no doubt
genuinely sincere in his declaration of personal subjection to his Prophet,
Pratt, in the apparent excitement of the moment, exaggerated the extent to
which such subjugation was binding upon members. In the same breath,
however, he contradictorily implied that he would continue to think as he
saw fit, attributing this to his weakness. Correct in his explanation that church
leaders were not infallible, Pratt essentially offset the impact of his logic by
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illustrating his point with only the most extreme of possibilities. Not surpris-
ingly, Young felt threatened as President and insulted as an individual. No
compromise was possible; the time had long since passed; and Young, for the
sake of church unity and his own self-esteem, saw no other possibility but to
demand that Pratt recant, preferably before the Twelve, and publicly an-
nounce his error. Otherwise, the dangerous Apostle would be presented to
the conference faithful as a false teacher and sustained as such.

The much-traveled Pratt had successfully withstood a seemingly endless
barrage of intellectual attacks on his religion during his earlier missions to
England and the eastern seaboard of the United States. His keen reasoning
had served him well, and he could not, in good conscience, abandon it now.
For Pratt, freedom of thought was apparently of greater value and ultimate
worth than was his church fellowship. Because the Apostle also idolized the
martryred Joseph Smith, he could not admit to himself or to anyone else that
any revelations, written or oral, received through Smith might be outmoded.
His ties to the first Prophet were strong and complex. He saw himself, not as
expounding new doctrine, but rather as adding to the collection already estab-
lished.

When Young had first announced points of doctrine with which Pratt
could not agree, or which contradicted Smith's earlier teachings, the Apostle
kept his silence, anticipating that supporting revelations would be forthcom-
ing. No such revelations had been advanced, however, and Pratt was to

Wilford Woodruff (late 1840s or early 1850s)
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perceive his views as valid as those of Young or any other member of the
Twelve. Pratt's allegiance was to the truth as he saw it, and as he believed
Joseph Smith had revealed it—not to any one man or organization. Young's
continual insistence that Pratt acknowledge his faulty doctrine merely served
to convince Pratt of the fundamental truthfulness of his position. In honesty
not only to himself, but more to his beliefs, Pratt could not admit error where
he saw none, even if it meant severence from his church.

At the new day's meeting, Brigham Young was conspicuously absent.
Elders Hyde, Pratt, Taylor, Woodruff, Smith, Rich and Richards arrived at the
church historian's office early. As they were reaching their seats, Pratt said, "I
have come here by Bro. Taylor's request, and if there are any objections I will
withdraw."52

"We want you here," Elder Hyde replied. "[W]e dont want you to with-
draw, we have been together so long in Mormonism, that we are spoiled by
anything else, it is too late to talk of casting out, or separating."

Following the opening prayer, Hyde immediately confessed, "I do not feel
competent to take up the points of difficulties in doctrine between bro. Pratt,
& bro. Young. . . . [But] to acknowledge that this is the Kingdom of God, and
that there is a presiding power, and to admit that he can advance incorrect
doctrine, is to lay the ax at the foot of the tree. Will He suffer His mouthpiece
to go into error? No. He would remove him, and place another there. . . .

"[B]ro. Brigham,"—he said, turning to face Pratt—"is responsible for the
doctrine taught in this Church, and if he did not watch us, and reprove us
when wrong, he would not do his duty,

and again if any of the Twelve was abroad, and any Elder was prop-
ogating a false doctrine, we dealt with that man, then why could we
not be dealt with in the same manner? Shall he mourn and we not
respond? It is a duty we owe to ourselves; he is the presiding authority
of God on the earth, then he is legitimate, and every thing opposed to
him, is not legitimate, bro. Pratt said he was discouraged and felt
reckless, he ought not to be so! God is a jealous God, and His servants
are jealous with a godly jealousy, that tne stream may roll in purity.

Elder Woodruff spoke next. "[T]he remarks of bro. Hyde are dictated by
the spirit of wisdom, and the spirit of the Lord. [O]ur position, is very
responsible, and we could not aspire to anything greater, having received the
Apostleship, we should try to honor it;

when bro. Pratt made his confession, it made me rejoice, because I
thought it was the first time that he felt to fall into the Channel, I would
not do any thing to lose my Apostleship, I would rather lose my hand,
or my life, I think bro. Pratt has gone too far in advancing the doctrine
of the Godhead, they come in contact with the presidency of the
Church. . . . I feel to thank the Lord for giving us as good a leader as
bro. Brigham. no man had a right to call into question what Joseph did.
He was led by the spirit of God. bro. Brigham is careful, cautious, and
wise, and is a Father, his feeling is to save the people, every thing is
Godlike and is filled with wisdom, I want to have bro. Pratt saved, to
be one with the Presidency and his brethren.
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Facing the errant Apostle, Woodruff commented, "[I]f bro. Pratt has
taught a false doctrine, it is no worse for him, than me, or bro. Hyde, and
should retract, when a man takes a stubborn course, all Israel feels it; I desire
that he may right that matter up. The moment we launch out into unrevealed
doctrine, we are liable to get into error, bro. Pratt ought to make the thing
right with Pres. Young. . . . "

"[T]he Majority of the Church feels that some of his writings are open to
serious objections," said Erastus Snow " . . . I have read some sweeping dec-
larations in his writings, and thought some of them were dipping into deep
water. He can qualify those words, so as to wipe them out. . . . "

"[I]t has been sorrow to me that there has [been] any difficulty arisen
between bro. Brigham and bro. Pratt," Elder Charles C. Rich said. "I feel very
anxious on this subject.

it is simply for bro. Pratt to remove the objectionable items, the bre-
thren rejoiced at his confession, and it was an increase to his influence,
it is not right for a member to have a doctrine opposed to his quorum,
or the Presidency, he can cure the evil that is wanted to be cured, I
would not want to yield the good that I can do, for any light thing, I
would be glad to see bro. Pratt make it right. . . .

"[F]or one member to advocate new doctrine without common consent,"
reminded Apostle Hyde then, "is beyond our pale or jurisdiction."

"I do not see how I can mend the matter, one way or the other," Orson
Pratt began. "I think the brethren are laboring under a wrong impression,

in all my writings on doctrine, I have tried to confine myself within
revelation . . . in regard to Adam being our Father and our God, I have
not published it, altho I frankly say, 1 have no confidence in it, altho
advanced by bro. Kimball in the stand, and afterwards approved by
bro. Brigham53 . . . I have never intended to advance new ideas, but to
keep within revelation. It is said the revelations given to Joseph Smith,
answered them, and if Joseph would translate now, it would be so very
different, if that was so, I should never know when I was right, in
fourteen years hence, all the revelation of Brigham may be done away,
but I do not admit it, The Lord deals with us on consistent principles,
there may be apparent contradictions, but to suppose that the meaning
would be different, I do not believe [it]. . . .

For me to publish to the world, that the writings that I have sent out
to the world, oacked up by Joseph's revelations, are untrue, would be
to say, how do we know that in sixteen years time, all these revelations
will be overturned, as Joseph's now are, they are written plain. I was
willing that things should slumber. I made a confession as far as my
conscience would allow me, to be justified. I could not state it from
knowledge. I suppose it was all right, until I heard bro. Brigham decla-
rations from the stand; that threw a damper on my mind, I will leave
the event in the hands of my brethren . . .

"I really believed in regard to the omnipresence of the Spirit," he pleaded,
"I did really believe that bro. Brigham had preached the same doctrine. I have
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not tried to introduce new doctrines into the church, bro. Young's sermon
was published by me as soon as I received it, without comment, and I do not
intend it shall come from me, while I believe in Joseph Smith's revelations. I do
believe that bro. Brigham errs in judgement." [Emphasis in original]

"When there is a want of union," Hyde interjected, "it requires us to speak
plain.

bro. Pratt does not claim any vision or revelation, but keeps within the
scope of Joseph's revelations. . . . I see no necessity of rejecting
Joseph's revelations, or going to War with the living ones, that is the
nearest to us . . . I do not see any contradiction or opposition between
B. Young & J. Smith.

"B. Young must have feelings towards me," Pratt then said. "I wish the
brethren would point out to me where my pamphlet on 'the Holy Spirit' is
wrong."

"[W]hen bro. Brigham tells me a thing, I receive it as a revelation,"
returned John Taylor. [S]ome things may be apparently contradictory, but are
not really contradictory."

"It was the Father of Jesus Christ that was talking to Adam in the garden,"
Pratt pressed on. "B. Young says that Adam was the Father of Jesus Christ,
both of his spirit and Body, in his teachings from the stand. Bro. Richard
publishes in the Pearl of Great Price, that another person would come in the
meridian of time, which was Jesus Christ."

"David in spirit called Jesus Christ, Lord," Hyde offered. "How then is he
his Son? It would seem a contradiction, I went to Joseph and told him my
ideas of the Omnipresence of the Spirit, he said it was very pretty, and it was
got up very nice, and is a beautiful doctrine, but it only lacks one thing, I
enquired what is it bro. Joseph, he replied it is not true." [Emphasis in origi-
nal.]

"If Christ is the first fruits of them that slept," Apostle Taylor similarly
commented, "there must be some discrepancy, he must have resumed his
position, having a legitimate claim to a possession somewhere else, he ought
not to be debarred from his rights. The power of God was sufficient to resusci-
tate Jesus immediately, and also the body of Adam."

Perhaps anticipating a drawn-out exchange, Orson Hyde announced,
"We have come here to arrange that discourse, to the sanction of bro. Young,
that it may go forth under the sanction of bro. Pratt . . .

is he willing to put that discourse in shape to recall or qualify certain
points of doctrine, not extorted, but in an easy way to show reflection,
and that truth has led him to make that confession, and to leave bro.
Young out as a dictator, and what would be satisfactory to bro. Young I
am pleased with the leniency extended by bro. Young to bro. Pratt, it is
more than has been extended to me, or others.
Despite Hyde's attempted reconciliation, Pratt remained uncompromis-

ing. "I have heard brother Brigham say," he remarked, "that Adam is the
Father of our Spirits, and he came here with his resurrected body, to fall for
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his children, and I said to him, it leads to an endless number of falls, which
leads to sorrow and death: that is revolting to my feelings, even if it were not
sustained by revelations . . . [AJnother item, I heard brother Young say that
Jesus had a body, flesh and bones, before he came, he was born of the Virgin
Mary, it was so contrary to every revelation given."

As Pratt paused, Hyde turned to George A. Smith. "Bro. Geo. A. Smith
just tell us what will be satisfactory to the Church?"

"[F]or him to acknowledge Brigham Young as the President of the
Church, in the exercise of his calling," Smith informed. "[B]ut," he declared,
"he only acknowledges him as a poor drivelling fool, he preaches doctrine
opposed to Joseph, and all other revelations. If brigham Young is the Presi-
dent of the Church, he is an inspired man. If we have not an inspired man,
then Orson Pratt is right . . . The only thing," he continued, " is for bro. Pratt
to get a revelation that bro. B. Young is a Prophet of God."

"I don't think," Elder Snow added, "that any light can come to bro. Pratt,
while he resists it."

"I did make a confession with my heart," Pratt conceded. "I am only an
individual, I can not possibly yield to say I have published false doctrine.

I did say it was only my belief, and not revelation, I thought I could go
on with the Twelve, and preach and exhort, I leave it entirely in the
hands of the Church, I am willing to take out the article, but not willing
to say I have taught false doctrine. I have been in the Church many
years, and have learned that so long as we want to keep things smooth,
we can do so, any modification you feel to make in that sermon, will be
right, even to cutting it down one half.

"I feel," remarked Hyde, "you will yet acknowledge that you have taught
false doctrine. I dont think you will receive a revelation, only thro brother
Brigham, and you will yet confess that you have stubbornly resisted the
Council. I tell you, you will not get a revelation from God on the subject. . . . "

"I have wondered why the Lord could not have cooked up something
easier," Apostle Woodruff admitted, "than to see the human family going to
hell, or to send his Son to be crucified. I would follow the leader and do the
best I could."

"We will dress and pray," Hyde followed, "then have that sermon, and
read over item by item, and see what will agree with bro. Pratts conscience."

"I don't like any patching," Elder Taylor rejoined, "but follow the dictates
of our Presidency, I don't believe in having things thrown out on bro.
Brigham. If that mouthpiece has not power to dictate, I would throw all
Mormonism away, all that can be asked is to carry out the doctrine in this
sermon."

"I have always felt," Pratt responded, "if I can be convinced, nothing
would give me greater pleasure than to make a confession."

Wilford Woodruff placed the 29 January sermon with secretary Thomas
Bullock. Soon, vested in their temple robes, all present unitedly formed a
close prayer circle, and Apostle Benson led the sacred ritual. After the prayer,
which not unexpectedly centered on Pratt's rebellion, Hyde invited Bullock to
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read the lengthy discourse. For the following two to three hours, suggested
corrections were offered by various quorum members, discussed, and, when
accepted, recorded by Secretary Bullock. The bulk of the Quorum's correc-
tions consisted of ommiting points of opinion and personal judgement felt to
be inappropriate in particular reference to Brigham Young. A few clarifying
comments were also incorporated into the new text. When finished, approx-
imately twenty-five percent of Pratt's controversial remarks had been re-
moved with the Apostle's tacit approval. John Taylor moved that the Quorum
accept Pratt's revised confessional sermon. His action was seconded, and
then carried by the sustaining vote of those present.

At their showing, Pratt commented, "[B]rethren I must say I am very
thankful for the many items that are struck out, if this will suit the Presidency,
I pray that from henceforth, I may be one with you, and preach with you."

President Young had apparently anticipated the course of the Quorum's
actions. Later that evening, with the Twelve, in the Historian's Office,
Young's enthusiasm was evident. "[T]his day I have seen the best spirit
manifested.

I have heard 15 or 16 men all running in the same stream. I was
delighted. Tomorrow the Church will be 30 years old, about the age
that Jesus was when he commenced his mission.

We are improving, and I just know it, my path is like the noon day
sun, and I could cry hallujan! hallujah! Praise to God who has been
merciful to us, and conferred on us His Holy Spirit A private member
in this church is brighter than the power or Kings and Princes of the
world, to secure an eternal existence for ever, written in the Lamb's
book of life.

"[B]ro Orson Pratt," Young continued, "I want you to do just as you have
done in your Apostleship, but when you want to teach new doctrine, to write
those ideas, and submit them to me. an if they are correct, I will tell you.
There is not a man's sermon that I like to read [more], when you understand
your subject, but you are not perfect," he said; "Neither am I."

Pratt handed Young the corrected copy of his discourse and explained
which alterations had been included. Young added that he would later see
that some few additional remarks were attached to Pratt's sermon before it
appeared in print. Then Pratt asked Young if this would mark the end of all
discussion on the subject, or if the affair would be "resuscitated again." The
President assured him that "he never wanted the subject to be mouthed
again, and wished those in the room, not to mention it."54

True to his word, Young, aided by Counselors Kimball and Wells, saw to
the composition of several brief "Remarks" in the early part of July.55 The
First Presidency's comments were then appended to the revised text of Pratt's
public confession, with both articles eventually appearing in the Deseret News,
Wednesday, 27 July 1860.

Following a short, prefatory note which side-stepped the issues Pratt had
raised about Adam-God, the First Presidency quoted verbatim excerpts from
the Apostle's controversial writings. Four references were made to The Seer
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Heber C. Kimball (1855)

and one to a small pamphlet he had published while in England in 1851,
"Great First Cause, or the Self-Moving Forces of the Universe." Of the four
passages from The Seer, three referred directly to Pratt's notion of the literal
omniscience of God. The fourth dealt with both God's omniscience and the
attendant attributes of godliness. The one quotation from Pratt's English pub-
lication touched indirectly upon the attributes of godliness in their variations
and combinations as being "the Great First Cause of all things and events that
have had a beginning." These five excerpts were the only points of Pratt's
theological excesses identified by the First Presidency as incompatible with
existent church doctrine and revelation. They did not make reference to the
Apostle's "Holy Spirit," which also contained ideas Young could not sanc-
tion. Within less than five years this pamphlet would be similarly con-
demned.
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"This should be a lasting lesson," Young and his counsellors said "to the
Elders of Israel not to undertake to teach doctrine they do not understand. If
the Saints can preserve themselves in a present salvation day to day, which is
easy to be taught and comprehended, it will be well with them hereafter."56

In the Fall the Apostle received a call to serve a mission in the Eastern
United States. There he was to help financially destitute church converts
gather to the West. Three days before his 26 September departure, Pratt met
with other general authorities and departing missionaries in the Historian's
Office. Pratt and missionary companion Erastus Snow were customarily
blessed by their brethren at the onset of this new church assignment. Then,
separating themselves from rank-and-file members, the leading councils re-
tired to an adjoining prayer room where, as Wilford Woodruff wrote, "we
had a very interesting meeting."

Heber C. Kimball, one of several who thought that Pratt's revised confes-
sion did not adequately address the issue of his erroneous doctrines and
stubborn insistence upon unsound notions, asked that the Apostle "make
satisfaction to Presidt Young" before leaving the city. Yet Young responded
that "he did not wish [Pratt] to make any acknowledgement to him." Pratt,
Young remarked to all present,

was strangely constituted he had acquired a great deal of knowledge
upon many things but in other things he was one of the most ignorant
men [Young] ever saw in his life He was full of integrity & would lie
down & have his head cut off for me or his religion if necessary but he
will never see his error untill he comes into the spirit world then he will
say Brother Brigham how foolish I was . . .

"I will hold on to Brother Pratt," Young continued, "& all those my Breth-
ren of the Twelve notwithstanding all their sins, folly & weaknesses untill I
me[e]t with them in my Fathers Kingdom, to part no more because they love
God and are full of integrity."

Pratt said, in turn, "I do not believe as Brother Brigham & Brother Kimball
do in some points of doctrine & they do not wish me to acknowledge to others
that I do not believe."

"No," Young rejoined, "you cannot see the truth in this matter until you
get into the spirit world."57

Why was the subject of Pratt's doctrines again brought up, considering
Young's 5 April admonition to the contrary? Is it reasonable to assume that
Kimball was unaware of Young's request since he had not been present at the
time and so felt it important enought that Pratt be once more confronted with
his perceived disobedience? Given Young's and Kimball's close friendship,58

it is doubtful the President would not have informed his First Counselor of
the entire matter. It is possible that Kimball acted upon his own initiative.
Whatever the reasons, Kimball's statements served to renew the Pratt-
Young conflict.
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IV

During the years before the non-Mormon influx into Utah's Great Basin,
Brigham Young, with other leading church leaders and members of his
entourage, traveled throughout the Rocky Mountain area on official tours of
Mormon colonies and settlements. Young's efforts to both keep abreast of the
temporal and spiritual developments of the early pioneers and to minimize
the austerity of his own calling were, for the most part, successful. It was
during such a tour of northern Utah's Cache Valley in the early part of May
1865 that Young learned Orson Pratt's unsound sermons and doctrinal teach-
ings had not been abandoned by the people, nor had his edition of Lucy Mack
Smith's history of Joseph Smith disappeared from the homes of Latter-day
Saints. Indeed, it now enjoyed a prominent place as a territorial school
"Reader."59 Pratt's popularity seemed nearly indefatigable.

At 2:00 P.M., 13 June 1865, Young called Counselor Kimball and Elders
Woodruff, Richards and George Q. Cannon to the Historian's Office. The
President had earlier discussed his concerns with Apostle Cannon, whom he
called upon to read aloud from Pratt's English pamphlet, "The Great First
Cause." The men then adjourned for one hour. When they reassembled at
4:00 P.M., they were joined by Elder George A. Smith. The first sections of
Pratt's "Holy Spirit" tract were then read aloud, after which Young asked
those present "what should be done with these works written by Orson
Pratt."60 After some discussion, a vote was taken, and Pratt's writings were
condemned as false doctrine.61 It was also decided that a public announce-
ment censuring these points was required, because the earlier 1860 statement
had not met the reception which had been hoped for.

Young addressed church members five days later, and in the course of his
remarks on the personality and attributes of God, he lambasted the views of
"a certain celebrated philosopher:"

Elder Orson Pratt has written extensively on the doctrines of this
church, and upon this particular doctrine. When he writes and speaks
upon subjects with which he is acquainted and understands, he is a
very sound reasoner; but when he has written upon matters of which
he knows nothing—his own philosophy, which I call vain
philosophy—he is wild, uncertain, and contradictory.62

Public reference to Pratt's works was apparently not made again until
Wednesday, 23 August 1865, when Young saw to the publication of two
separate, though overlapping official declarations—the earlier 1860 proclama-
tion, and the more recent one, carrying the signatures of the First Presidency
(except for Second Counselor Daniel H. Wells) and all members of the
Quorum of the Twelve (except Pratt)—on the front and second pages of the
day's edition of the Deseret News. Those sections authored by the Cannon-
Smith-Richards (CRS) committee dealing with the Smith history and Pratt's
"Great First Cause" prefaced the 1860 declaration.

The somewhat longer denunciation of Pratt's "Holy Spirit" treatise, which
had also come under the committee's scrutiny, completed the whole of the
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statement over both governing Quorums' approval. The absence of Wells's
and Pratt's names from the list of signatories is explained by both men's being
out of the country on church missions at the time. The two complementary
statements, which, in essence, form one extended commentary, constitute to
date the most comprehensive official denunciations of Pratt's theological ex-
cesses. For Young the statements represented the final resolution of some
twelve years of interpersonal conflict with his fellow authority.63

At the onset, the CRS committee expressed their unequivocal condemna-
tion of the Smith biography: "[It] is utterly unreliable as a history, as it con-
tains many falsehoods." They recommended that "every one in the Church,
male and female, if they have such a book, to dispose of it so that it will never
be read by any person again." They attributed the apparently rampant inac-
curacies to the advanced age of "Mother Smith" and were especially critical of
her favorable treatment of her other, less endearing son, William. They be-
moaned Apostle Pratt's admitted involvement. "[B]rother Pratt," they con-
tended, "had it printed, and published it, without saying a word to the First
Presidency or the Twelve about what he was doing. This is the way the book
came into being. It was smuggled, juggled and foisted into existence as a
book." Pratt's error, the CRS committee concluded, was in extending his own
personal theological arguments beyond the realm of revelation, with his sta-
ture and confidence such that his teachings often had been greeted by the
Saints as official church doctrine.

" [TJo teach these ideas," the committee wrote, "and to make them public
to mankind, after so many ages of ignorance respecting them, has been re-
served, according to his own arguments for brother Orson Pratt." And in the
remote possibility that his theories may be true, they cautioned, "we would
think it unwise to have them made public as these have been." Yet "we know
that we have had no revelation from God respecting them, except to know
that many of them are false, and that the publication of them is unwise and
objectionable."

Keenly aware of their position— "The interests of posterity are, to a cer-
tain extent, in our hands"—the committee felt that allegiances exterior to a
perpetuation of the faith were of little consequence:

We know what sanctity there is always attached to the writings of men
who have passed away, especially to the writings of Apostles, when
none of their contemporaries are left, and we, therefore, reel the neces-
sity of being watchful upon these points. Personal feelings and friend-
ships and associations ought to sink into comparative insignificance,
ana have no weight in view of consequences so momentous to the
people and kingdom of God as these.

Where the Apostle's writings were found to appear in bound volumes,
Mormons were advised to carefully remove them so as not to unnecessarily
damage the binding, and to see the works destroyed. "No member," the
committee warned,
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has the right to publish any doctrines, as the doctrines of the Church of
Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, without first submitting them for
examination and approval to the First Presidency and the Twelve . . .
And any man who so far forgets the order instituted by the Lord as to
write and publish what may be termed new doctrines, without consult-
ing with trie First Presidency of the Church respecting them, places
himself in a false position, and exposes himself to the power or dark-
ness by violating his Priesthood.

While upon this subject, we wish to warn all the Elders of the
Church, and to have it clearly understood by the members, that, in the
future, whoever publishes any new doctrines without first taking this
course, will be liable to lose his Priesthood.

At the close of the lengthy statement, the First Presidency and Twelve offi-
cially disowned segments of The Seer, the "Great First Cause," both articles on
the "Holy Spirit," and the 1853 edition on the Smith biography "so that the
Saints who now live, and who may live hereafter, may not be misled by our
silence, or be left to misinterpret it."64

The Church proclamation was not published abroad until 21 October
when it appeared in the English Millennial Star. Some days later, Pratt, still
overseas, handed Editor Brigham Young, Jr., a short notice addressed, "TO
THE SAINTS IN ALL THE WORLD." Pratt wrote:

I, therefore, embrace the present opportunity of publicly expressing
my most sincere regret, mat I have ever published the least thing
which meets with the disapprobation of the highest authorities of the
Church; and I do most cordially join with them in the request, that you
should make such disposition or the publication alluded to, as counsel-
led in their proclamation.65

Less than three months later, on December 21, Pratt wrote President
Young a short note in which he was to come as close to acknowledging
erroneous reasoning as he had at any time in the past. He had learned from
the recent statement of the General Authorities that several of his writings
had not only not received Church sanction, but that members were now
asked to see them suppressed. "Permit me," the Apostle wrote,

to express my most sincere regrets, in having put you and the highest
authorities of this church to so much trouble and expense. I most
sincerely hope that the experience of the past may have a salutory
influence on the future, and that I may live near enough to the Lord, to
avoid all error, and cleave most steadfastly to the forgiveness of all
saints, as touching anything which may nave come from my pen,
either erroneous or unwise. In relation to doctrine, or prophecy, or
philosophy, or science, truth, and truth alone, is all that I desire. Let my
name be recorded among the righteous; let me enjoy the society of my
brethren; let me bear a humble part with them in bringing forth and
establishing Zion, and my soul will be satisfied—this only is the height
of my ambition; this is the great joy of my life—my hope—my
salvation—my all.

Please present my kind love to the Council, and may God bless you
and them forever, is the humble sincere prayer of your brother in
Christ. [Emphasis in original.]66
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Brigham Young (1860s)

The vicissitudes of the past twelve years had begun to take a weighty toll on
the independent Pratt.67

Throughout the ensuing years until Young's death in 1877, conflict be-
tween the Apostle and his President submerged markedly, as both time and a
variety of sacred and secular callings took on positions of greater priority in
each man's life. Only one incident, public or private, is known to have oc-
curred between the two.68

The Reorganized Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, a rival of the
larger Utah Church, published during the closing months of 1867 the post-
humous Joseph Smith "Inspired Translation" of the Holy Scriptures. Young
asked the Apostle to evaluate the publication for possible future use among
church faithful. Pratt apparently overstepped Young's expectations, how-
ever, when on two separate occasions he publicly expressed his personal
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approval of the Smith Bible. Elder Woodruff wrote of the first occasion, which
occurred during a Sunday, 31 May 1868, meeting of the Provo School of the
Prophets: "O Pratt [word unclear] spoke upon the New Translation of the old
& New Testament as translated By the Prophet Joseph Smith before his death
& it had Been Published of Late by the followers of Young Joseph . . . it was
published in its purity & we felt much rejoiced that a copy had fallen into
President Young hands."69 Three weeks later, Pratt addressed the same
group of priesthood holders. Brigham Young attended this session, and,
following Pratt's few remarks, "bore testimony in strong terms that Joseph
did not finish the New Translation of the old & New Testament which young
Joseph had lately published."70 Eleven days later, sensing the possibility of
renewed conflict and its inevitable misunderstanding, Pratt once again ad-
dressed to Young an unusually to-the-point, compassionate letter acknow-
ledging not only their disagreement about the Smith translation, but all past
differences of opinion, belief and doctrine.

I am deeply sensible that I have greatly sinned against you, and against
my brethren of the school, and against God, in foolishly trying to
justify myself in advocating ideas, opposed to these which have been
introduced by the highest authorities of the Church, and accepted by
the Saints. I numbly ask you and the school to forgive me. Hereafter,
through the grace of God assisting me, I am determined to be one with
you, and never be found opposing anything that comes through the
legitimate order of the Priesthood, Knowing tnat it is perfectly right for
me to humbly submit, in all matters of doctrine and principle, my
judgement to those whose right it is by divine appointment, to receive
revelations and guide the Church.71

With this letter, Apostle Pratt voiced eloquently those personal values which
meant the most to him. The tempering effect of time had shown Pratt the
futility of extended conflict from which no one emerges victorious.72

The closing, bittersweet years of Orson Pratt's life were witness to both
noteworthy achievements and profound disappointments. In mid-August
1870, the Tabernacle walls rang with his famous debate on Mormon plural
marriage with Dr. John P. Newman, Chaplain of the United States Senate.
From 1869 until 1880, he ably served seven sessions as Speaker of the House,
Utah Territorial Legislature. In the summer of 1874, Pratt was officially ap-
pointed church Recorder and Historian.

On 10 April 1875, some two years before Brigham Young's death, the
church President rearranged the order of seniority in the Quorum of the
Twelve, placing three others before Pratt, though the latter chronologically
preceded them based on date of original ordination to the quorum, Pratt did
not succeed to the presidency as would have otherwise occurred if the order
not been realigned. While Young maintained that such action was necessary
because of Pratt's 1842 excommunication,73 it would not be entirely incorrect
to assume that Young was motivated by his unwillingness to permit Pratt's
eventual succession as Church President. Interestingly, Young's successor,
John Taylor, enlisted Pratt's assistance in 1877-78 in publishing several of
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Joseph Smith's revelations which had previously appeared only in the small
English pamphlet, The Pearl of Great Price (1851). In preparing these revela-
tions for publication in 1878, Pratt used the 1867 RLDS edition of Smith's Holy
Scriptures translation as a source of comparison and correction.74

Shortly before his death on 3 October 1881, Pratt, suffering from diabetes,
dictated his own epitaph. Whatever disappointments and difficulties he had
known throughout the course of his full life, his indestructible faith in the
fundamentals of Mormonism soared: "My body sleeps but a moment; but my
testimony lives and shall endure forever."75

Time has been unusually kind to Orson Pratt. In his 1932 biographical
study T. Edgar Lyon observed,

As one pauses at a vantage point and looks back over the first century
of Mormonism, it becomes increasingly evident that Orson Pratt did
more to formulate the Mormons' idea of God, the religious basis of
polygamy, the pre-existence of spirits, the doctrine of the gathering of
Israel, the resurrection, and eternal salvation than any other person in
the Church, with the exception of Joseph Smith.76

Brigham Young's speculations on Adam-God continued to be the center of
no small controversy among church members. His belief77 that Adam was at
once the spiritual as well as the physical father of all persons born on this
world, including Jesus Christ, was never completely accepted during his
lifetime despite frequent reference to it by various church authorities. Even
within the presiding quorums, it appears that Pratt was not alone in his
discomfort with Young's theological innovation. Apostle George Q. Cannon,
counselor to Young, may have been alluding to Adam-God when he recorded
in his journal, after Young's death,

Some of my brethren, as I have learned since the death of President
Brigham Young, did have feelings concerning his course. They did not
approve of it, and felt oppressed, and yet they dared not exhibit their
feelings to him, he ruled with so strong and stiff a hand, and they felt
that it would be of no use. In a few words, the feeling seems to be that
he transcended the bounds of the authority which he legitimately held.
I have been greatly surprised to find so much dissatisfaction in such
quarters. . . . [S]ome even feel that in the promulgation of doctrine he
took liberties beyond those to which he was legitimately entitled.78

While plural marriage enraged the American populace, Young's ill-fated
Adam-God doctrine exerted a similar, though less intense effect within Mor-
mon Israel.79 The unpopular doctrine declined in official espousal during the
succeeding administrations of John Taylor and Wilford Woodruff, and church
faithful today who entertain such a heretical notion become liable to official
church censure.

V
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Several of Pratt's unpopular ideas have now found acceptance among
such influential twentieth century church exegetes as Joseph Fielding Smith.
Elder Pratt would have no doubt agreed with Smith's doctrine: "I believe that
God knows all things and that his understanding is perfect, not 'relative.' I have
never seen or heard of any revealed fact to the contrary. I believe that our
Heavenly Father and his Son Jesus Christ are perfect. I offer no excuse for the
simplicity of my faith." [Emphasis in original]81 Bruce R. McConkie's Mormon
Doctrine shows a kindred debt to Pratt's theories in his sections on "God," the
"Godhead," and "Eternal Progression."82 Reliance on Pratt is strong and
surprising.83

Recent studies of Joseph Smith's "inspired translation" of the Bible have
contributed to a much greater Utah appreciation of the Prophet's efforts.84

The Church's 1979 publication of the King James version, with Joseph Smith's
amendations, unquestionably helped lay to rest the majority of Brigham
Young's reservations. Even Lucy Mack Smith has been largely vindicated in
modern research.85

Both Orson Pratt and Brigham Young found themselves inextricably
united in a common cause—Mormonism and its expansion. Each man, how-
ever, pursued this goal from subtly different points of view—which, as a
direct consequence, were to produce seemingly different views. Young, as
President and Prophet, saw his fundamental responsibilities as overseeing
official church doctrine and maintaining unity within the Church as a whole.
Freedom of thought, although important, was tolerated only when subsumed
under "higher" laws: The supremacy of the office of church president, the
dissemination of sound doctrinal truth, and the unity of church membership.
Such freedom existed only if its presence was not disunifying or detracting.
Pratt, while no doubt sensing the same dangers, did not perceive his espousal
of beliefs contrary to those of Young as disunifying or detracting. Indeed, the
Apostle was consistent in affirming the unifying aspects of his theological
theories as well as their validity in relation to present scripture and past
revelation. Pratt viewed his acceptance of doctrines Young found distasteful
no more harmful than Young's own support of teachings Pratt considered
scripturally unsound.

In retrospect, the main issue does not appear to be differences about the
attributes of godliness, the omniscience of God, the omnipresence of the Holy
Spirit, the "great first cause," the position of Adam in an earlier existence, the
propriety of publishing Lucy Mack Smith's history of her son, or the "in-
spired translation" of the Bible. Rather, it emerges as conflict between
Young's notion of dynamic revelation, which provided for the possibility of
superceding past revelation, and Pratt's fundamentalist adherence to the
written word of divine canon and past revelation. As each LDS authority was
to perceive his own particular bias, antagonism was born and reconciliation
became a virtual impossibility.86 However, their conflict was not that each
value was mutually exclusive, but rather that both men viewed them as such.

Young's efforts, beginning in 1855 with his public letter to Samuel W.
Richards, were calculated to reduce the impact of Pratt's speculative theories,
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rather than the status of the Apostle himself. In turn, Pratt, whether in a
demonstration of unusual naivete, or of passive aggression, hoped to indi-
rectly support his teachings with the claim that he had not been explicitly told
what points were under official condemnation. This gave him the opportunity
to speculate further on his controversial teachings, for no other reason than
that he was merely adding upon a foundation he had earlier begun, not
advancing new ideas. Pratt was not to disagree strongly with his President
until after Young publicly expressed his objections to Pratt's writings.
Young's criticism, perceived as a personal attack by Pratt, came as the result
of Pratt's thinly veiled insistence that he be shown which of his doctrinal
teachings were in error. Young's early statements did not satisfy, so Pratt
continued to press the issue. The President, in turn, eventually responded to
Pratt's charges with the official statements of 1860 and 1865, and the popular-
ity of Pratt's questionable notions waned.87 As often occurs, however, the
boundaries separating the two positions have become less identifiable and
victory only a matter of perspective.

NOTES

discourse, Salt Lake City, 3 July 1870, reported in the Journal of Discourses, 26 Vols. (Liver-
pool: 1854-1882), 14:278. (This collection of LDS sermons is hereafter cited JD, followed by
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2Revelation, 2 January 1831, recorded in The Doctrine and Covenants of the Church of Jesus Christ
of Latter-day Saints (Salt Lake City: The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, 1971), page 38,
verse 27.

3Joseph Fielding Smith, Jr., Doctrines of Salvation, 3 Vols. (Salt Lake City: Bookcraft, Inc.,
1954-1956; Bruce R. McConkie, comp.), 2:245-6.

4In addition to Orson Pratt, other General Authorities called were John Taylor to New York
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Excuse." (Wilford Woodruff Journal, 22 December 1852, Archives, Historical Department of the
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. . . a doctrine, one discourse from Brother Pratt would settle the question . . . " (William Clayton
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the Brookville Enquirer, Brookville, Iowa, wrote,

If a man may be called eloquent who transfers his own views and feelings into the
breasts of others—if a knowledge of the subject, and to speak without fear—are a part of
the more elevated rules of eloquence, we have no hesitancy in saying ORSON PRATT
was eloquent; and truly verified the language of Boileau: 'What we clearly conceive, we
can clearly express' (Reprinted in the Latter-day Saints' Messanger and Advocate (Kirtland,
Ohio) 1:77 (emphasis in original).

Time has not diminished Pratt's reputation. In 1969, Leonard Arrington asked approximately
fifty LDS intellectuals to list the five most eminent intellectuals in Mormon history. Thirty-eight
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persons responded. Orson Pratt was second only to B. H. Roberts, ahead of Joseph Smith, James
E. Talmage, John A. Widtsoe and Pratt's own brother Parley. (See Leonard J. Arlington, "The
Intellectual Tradition of the Latter-day Saints," Dialogue: A Journal of Mormon Thought, 4 (Spring
1969), pp. 13-26.)

6Orson Pratt to Brigham Young, 31 December 1852, Brigham Young Collection, LDS Arc-
hives.
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"Orson Pratt to Parley P. Pratt, 2 November 1853, Parley P. Pratt Collection, Archives and

Manuscripts, Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University.
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15Ibid., Vol. 1 (January 1853), No. 1, p. 15.
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marriage ceremony. (See The Seer, Vol. 1 [February 1853], No. 2, p. 31.) It was later printed in the
Latter-day Saints' Millennial Star (Liverpool), Vol. 15 (Saturday, 2 April 1853), No. 14, pp. 214-15.
(This English review is hereafter cited as LDSMS.)

20Joseph Lee Robinson Journal, 6 October 1854, typescript of original in Special Collections,
Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University.

"Discourse, Salt Lake City, 7 October 1854, in JD 2:58-9.
"Discourse, Salt Lake City, 15 October 1854, in JD 2:246-7.
"The Deseret News, 16 November 1854, p. 3. (Pratt's edition sold for $1.75.)
24The Deseret News, 21 March 1855, p. 16.
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26LDSMS, Vol. 17 (Saturday, 12 May 1855), No. 19, p. 298. Young's letter also took note of

errors in the Smith biography, though it did not condemn Pratt's involvement.
"Samuel W. Richards Journal, 25 March 1855, typescript of original in Special Collections,

Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University (hereafter cited as SWRJ).
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28WWJ, 6 May 1855.
29Ibid., 17 February 1856. For Young's speech which prompted their exchange, see Dis-

course, Salt Lake City, 17 February 1856, reported in JD 3:203.
30SWRJ, 11 March 1856. 31WWJ, 11 March 1856.
32See LDSMS, Vol. 12 (15 October 1850), No. 20, pp. 305-09, and Vol. 12 (1 November 1850),

No. 21, pp. 325-28.
33"Holy Spirit," in A Series of Pamphlets (Liverpool: Published by Franklin D. Richards, 1856),

p. 53. Pratt's writings were apparently not enjoying the brisk sales his earlier works did. On 8
January 1857, Pratt's second counselor in the mission presidency, James Amasa Little,
"suggested to brother Pratt several reasons why I thought it might be well to curtail for the
present the publication of his series of tracts, and he concluded to stop for a time with the
publication of the eighth chapter and wait awhile to see how the works sold" (Journal of James
Amasa Little, microfilm of transcript, Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University). Pratt
issued no additional tracts.

34WWJ, 29 December 1856.
35Discourse, Salt Lake City, 8 March 1857, in JD 4:267. As he met that evening for a prayer

meeting, Young requested that Pratt's "Holy Spirit" be read aloud. Then, Wilford Woodruff
recorded, "he made the following remarks . . . He said that Brother Pratt had got beyond the
stars He had corralled them & Got beyond them" (WWJ, 8 March 1857).

36WWJ, 24 March 1858.
37As quoted in WWJ, 27 January 1860; see also footnote 39. Pratt's reasoning is evident in the

early "Holy Spirit" (1850) treatise: "[T]he qualities [of godliness] are the real object of worship,
and not the essence. . . . "

A search through available records housed in LDS Archives has failed to uncover the com-
plete text of Pratt's Sunday sermon. For a brief summary, see the Deseret News, 14 December 1859,
p. 328.

38POJ, 25 January 1860.
39A11 citation, whether direct or indirect, is taken from "Minutes of a Meeting of the Presi-

dency & Twelve Presidents of Seventies and Others assembled in President Youngs Council
Room," WWJ, 27 January 1860. It appears that this account was copied by Woodruff from the
original minutes kept by George D. Watt (see POJ, 27 January 1860). Although it is not entirely
clear why Woodruff went to the trouble of transcribing the official minutes into his personal
journal, the impact of the meeting is evident. Even for the usually precise Woodruff, the extent of
this journal entry is staggering: it covers some ten pages, easily the longest entry in his extensive
journals.

40POJ, 28 January 1860. Later that day, Pratt attended a customary Sunday prayer meeting
with other members of his quorum. Apostle Woodruff reported that Pratt "did not dress but said
he wanted to be in the society of the Twelve. He seemed much more soft in his spirit than he had
been" (WWJ, 28 January 1860).

41The original text of Pratt's sermon in Deseret News galley proof sheets is in the Brigham
Young Collection, LDS Archives, and appears as a companion piece in this issue of Dialogue.

42WWJ, 29 January 1860. See also Henry Hobbs Journal, 29 January 1860, LDS Archives; and
Charles L. Walker Journal, 29 January 1860, typescript of original in Special Collections, Harold B.
Lee Library, Brigham Young University.

43POJ, 31 January 1860. 44Ibid., 4 February 1860.
45Young was to express virtually identical views less than five months later; see the Deseret

News, 27 June 1860, pp. 129-30.
46POJ, 16 February 1860. 47WWJ, 4 March 1860.
48POJ, 21 February 1860.
49Deseret News, 22 February 1860, p. 401.
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SOA11 quotations, direct or indirect, are taken from "Minutes of Meeting at Historian's Office,
April 4, 1860," Brigham Young Collection, LDS Archives. (For brief summaries of this meeting,
see POJ 4 April 1860, and WWJ, 4 April 1860.) Most of the minutes were recorded by Robert L.
Campbell (whose handwriting has been identified by Dean C. Jessee). There are, however,
sections written by Thomas Bullock. Campbell's handwriting is at times difficult to read and,
though every effort has been made to reproduce the recorded comments, some textual misread-
ings may exist.

51This is the earliest known insistance of Brigham Young's attributing the Adam-God theory
to Joseph Smith. For other occasions, see WWJ, 16 December 1867, and the Journal History, 14
May 1876, LDS Archives. During 1852 to 1877—the effective period of official espousal of
Adam-God—Young attributed this belief to his predecessor only three times. (Young did allude
to Smith's impact on his own theological teachings in a sermon delivered Sunday afternoon, 8
June 1873. See the Deseret News, 18 June 1873, p. 308. The particular value of this latter discourse
is the light it sheds on the probable origins of this doctrine: a misunderstanding or misinterpreta-
tion of Joseph Smith's earlier teachings about Adam.)

52All quotations, direct and indirect, are taken from "Minutes of Council of the Twelve in
upper room of Historian's Office, April 5, 1860," Thomas Bullock, scribe, Brigham Young Collec-
tion, LDS Archives. For brief summaries, see POJ, 5 April 1860, and WWJ, 5 April 1860.

53Pratt's comment lends support to T. B. H. Stenhouse's statement implicating Kimball's
doctrinal speculations as a basis for Young's Adam-God teachings. See T. B. H. Stenhouse,
Rocky Mountain Saints (New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1873), p. 561 footnote.

54Young's statements are taken from "Minutes in office of Pres. Young, April 5, 1860,"
Brigham Young Collection, LDS Archives.

55See POJ, 10 April, 6 July, and 14 July 1860.
S6This statement, appended to Pratt's revised confessional sermon, is now in James R. Clark,

comp., Messages of the First Presidency of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints 6 Vols. (Salt
Lake City: Bookcraft Publishers, 1965-75), 2:214-223.

"WWJ, 23 September 1860. It is unfortunate that after his 1847 entry into the Great Salt Lake
Valley, Pratt did not continue his personal journal. During the particularly trying first six months
of 1860, virtually nothing is known about the Apostle's own feelings toward himself and his
fellow brethren of the Twelve and First Preisdency other than what is to be found in official
minutes and diaries. Pratt family oral tradition, however, as related by T. Edgar Lyon, suggests
that he harbored no lasting negative feelings toward Young. Rather, Pratt apparently felt that the
Church President acted without fully understanding his own ambitions. As Lyon reported, "On
such occasions he asked his family, as they engaged in their secret and family prayers, to petition
God to open Brigham Young's mind. . . . " (Libby Pratt Eldredge to T. Edgar Lyon, in T. Edgar
Lyon, "Orson Pratt—Early Mormon Leader," master of Arts thesis, University of Chicago,
Department of Church History, 1932, pps. 86-7).

58See Stanley B. Kimball, "Brigham and Heber, " Brigham Young University Studies, Vol. 18
(Spring 1978), No. 3, pps. 396-409.

S9The Historian's Office Journal, LDS Archives, records that Brigham Young, accompanied
by Elders John Taylor, Wilford Woodruff, George A. Smith, Franklin D. Richards, George Q.
Cannon and several other church authorities, left the city on Wednesday, 3 May 1865. They
returned a week later on Thursday, May 11, at 4:30 p.m.

For the account of the Smith biography as a "Reader," see Gottfredson Family History, p. 7,
typed transcript available at Utah Historical Society, Salt Lake City.

60The Historian's Office Journal, 13 June 1865.
61WWJ, 13 June 1865.
"Remarks, Great Salt Lake City, 18 June 1865, in JD 11:121.
63The 1865 church declaration summed up Young's real fears and deep concerns. There can

be little question that the President had considered the initial 1860 statement sufficient at the time
it was first issued, or had hoped that it would be. Only in intervening years did he come to realize
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that it had not laid to rest the popularity of Pratt's doctrinal theories. Ironically, Young himself
had contributed to the stature of the heterodox General Authority among church faithful. Pratt's
excesses were offset by his evident leadership and organizational abilities as well as his superior
intellect.

Though Young rarely allowed his exasperation to exceed the bounds of propriety, at least one
outburst is known. In late September 1865, he launched into brief diatribe against Pratt during a
forty-minute discourse to fellow adherents. Wilford Woodruff reported that Young "spoke his
Feelings in great plainness concerning O. Pratt & his publications. He said Orson Pratt would go
to H e l l . . . He would sell this people for gold. What would I give for such an Apostle, not much
and yet we hold him in Fellowship in the Church" (WWJ, 24 September 1865). Young occasionally
entertained the belief that Pratt's motives in publishing were primarily pecuniary. See ibid., 9
September 1860. Young's fundamental fear was that "If . . . some [doctrines] by O Pratt be
preached & Published as the doctrines of the Church & not contradicted by us it would not be
long before there would be [schismsr (ibid., 26 December 1866).

"The entire statement has since been reprinted in Clark, op at., pps. 229-40. Clark, how-
ever, errs in identifying two separate statements.

In fairness to Pratt and the cloudy circumstances surrounding the publication of Lucy Mack
Smith's biography, it should be noted that while he did not technically seek approval of his
governing quorums, he did avise Young of his intentions on 31 December 1852. "I think I will. . .
publish . . . another work," he wrote, "which will be very interesting, namely, the narrative of
Mother Smith, giving the genealogy of Joseph, back for seven generations, and a statement of
many facts, visions, dreams, and incidents, connected with the finding & translating of the
plates, and I think that they will do much good both to the church & the world" (Orson Pratt to
Brigham Young, 31 December 1852, Brigham Young Collection, LDS Archives).

6SLDSMS, Vol. 27 (Saturday, 4 November 1865), No. 44, p. 698.
66Orson Pratt to Brigham Young, 12 December 1865, Brigham Young Collection, LDS Ar-

chives.
67During this general period of time, Pratt was to also witness the separate apostasies from

the Church of his first wife, Sarah, and his eldest child, Orson, Jr. Sarah's disaffection had been
an ongoing process dating from the early 1840s. For the strong willed Sister Pratt polygamy was
unacceptable regardless its adovcates. Orson Jr.'s apostasy was likely similarly devastating, if not
more so. The day of the announcement of his excommunication at St. George, Utah, Sunday, 17
September 1864, he explained,

. . . I have come to the conclusion that, Joseph Smith was not specially sent from the
Lord to establish this work, and I cannot help it, for I could not believe otherwise, even if
I knew that I was to be punished for not doing so; and I must say so, though I knew that I
was to suffer for it the next moment.

When I was brought up before the High Council they said that I bore a good charac-
ter, and that they had nothing against me, only I did not believe in some of the principles
of Mormonism that I believe to be good, though there are others that I cannot believe in.
Now let me mention that, let a man be guilty of ever so heinous a crime, if he can stand
up and say that he believes the same as you, you will hold to him and keep him in
fellowship, and I admit that it makes me feel somewhat strange that, when I find that,
because I don't believe the same as you, although nothing can oe said against my moral
character, yet I must be dropped off. This is the way I feel. I see many friends around me
in this congregation who don't believe as I do, yet I can respect them for all that, for I
don't care what they believe. And I claim the same privilege for myself. I am confident of
one thing, that, while conscience does not upbraid me, and I do not sin against my
Heavenly Father, none, by their actions can snut me out of the light of His presence.
("Annals of the Southern Utah Mission," James G. Bleak, scribe, pp. 172-75, typescript
of original in Special Collections, Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University.)

Apostle Pratt's intellectual bent and deep emphasis on reasoning found a willing disciple in
his son, whose youthful desire had been to discover for himself the validity of the church in
which he had been raised. However, what was a foregone conclusion for Pratt, Sr. was for his
eldest son less convincing. As a result of his father's influence, Orson Pratt, Jr., in honesty to
himself, his ideals, and his upbringing, could not accept the basic foundations of his father's
religion. His own declaration echoed a similar proclamation made by his father four years earlier.
Yet while his father retained his membership, Pratt, Jr. did not. The personal revelation Apostle
Pratt had demanded during his confrontations with Young and others of the general authorities
he received in large measure with his son's excommunication.
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MT. Edgar Lyon, using both Stenhouse (op tit, p. 496) and Pratt family tradition, reported
that during the closing months of 1868 a meeting was held in Bear Valley in northern Utah to
discuss the issue of seniority in the Quorum of the Twelve. Pratt balked and the question was not
resolved at that time. See Lyon, op tit., pps. 160-1. I have been unable to substantiate such a
meeting with materials currently available.

One year earlier, a minor altercation did occur. Woodruff noted that on 10 September 1867,
Pratt announced to other General Authorities "he did not worship atributes asside from the
Personage of God but believed that God was an organized Being the same as Man & that man
possessed the atributes of God if he kept the Celestial Law" (WWJ, 10 September 1867). Two days
later, however, Woodruff added, without details, "The President & Twelve held a Council in the
evening upon the difference of opinion with O. Pratt" (ibid., 12 September 1867). With Pratt's
recent about face regarding the attributes of godliness, one can only speculate as to the exact
nature of "the difference of opinion with O. Pratt."

69WWJ, 31 May 1868. 70Ibid., 20 June 1868.
71Orson Pratt to Brigham Young, 1 July 1868, Brigham Young Collection, LDS Archives.

Later that month, Young made direct reference to Pratt's letter during a brief speech delivered to
members of the theological school. See "Minutes of the School of the Prophets, held in the Provo
Meeting House," 20 July 1868, copy in Special Collections, Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young
University.

72In his attempts at reconciliation, Pratt was to contradict several of his earlier beliefs. Refer-
ence has previously been made to his reversal respecting the attributes of godliness. See note 68.
He even went so far at one point as to refer to Adam as God. See Discourse, Salt Lake City, 7
October 1869, in JD 13:187. It is not known to what extent Pratt actually embraced without
reservation the notions he here declared.

73The difficulties surrounding Pratt's 1842 excommunication, 1843 reinstatement, and ex post
facto 1875 realignment are legion, and rightly merit a separate treatment.

74Pratt's edition of The Pearl of Great Price was also used as a correctional text for the Mormon
temple endowment ceremony. See Journal of L. John Nuttall, 15 June 1884, typed transcript in
Spedal Collections, Harold B. Lee Library, Brigham Young University.

7SAs recorded by Joseph F. Smith, The Contributor, Vol. 12 (October 1891), No. 12, p. 462.
76T. Edgar Lyon, op tit., 125.
77Young maintained that the doctrine of Adam-God was revealed to him by God. See the

Deseret News, 18 June 1873, p. 308. He was to also assert that he was merely espousing what had
been earlier revealed to him by Joseph Smith. See note 51. There exists, however, no reliable
evidence contemporary to Smith's lifetime which lends support to such a view. The more likely
candidate is his First Counselor, Heber C. Kimball. Both Stenhouse (op tit., p. 561 footnote) and
Pratt (note 53) attributed the initial creation of Adam as God to Kimball. With his death in 1868,
Young lost perhaps the only church authority whose personal committment to Adam-God equal-
led his own.

As mentioned, Young also claimed to have received this teaching from God. No amount of
research can prove (or disaprove) the personal nature of revelation, divine or otherwise. Yet
whether Young attributed Adam-God to Joseph Smith or revelation, the church President was
not above inventing support for beliefs where none existed previously. Consider his comments to
fellow Mormons on 8 October 1854:

[WJere I under the necessity of making scripture extensively I should get Bro. Heber C.
Kimball to make it, and then I would quote it. I have seen him do this when any of the
Elders have been pressed by their opponents, and were a little at a loss; he would make a
scripture for them to suite the case, that never was in the bible, though none the less
true, and make their opponents swallow it as the words of an apostle, or [one] of the
prophets. The Elder would then say, 'Please turn to that scripture, [gentlemen] and read
it for yourselves.' No, they could not turn to it but they recollected ituke the devil for fear
of being caught. I will venture to make a little. (Speech, 8 October 1854, Brigham Young
Collection, LDS Archives.)

On several occasions the President declared that his words were as legitimate as any found in the
standard works of Mormon canon: "I say now, when they [Young's sermons] are copied and
approved by me they are as good Scripture as is couched in this Bible" (Discourse, 6 October
1870, in JD 13:264).
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78Journal of George Q. Cannon, 17 January 1878, as cited in Joseph J. Cannon, "George Q.
Cannon—Relations with Brigham Young," The Instructor, Vol. 80 (June 1945), p. 259.

79For the unpopularity of Adam-God among rank-and-file members during Young's lifetime,
see the Deseret News, 18 June 1873, p. 308; LDSMS, Vol. 16, p. 482; and JD 5:331.

80Most treatments of Adam-God are severely marred by their authors' personal beliefs. Fred
C. Collier has compiled a useful collection of statements relating to Young's speculations, entitled
"The Mormon God" (1974) (unpublished). Rodney Turner's 1953 master of Arts thesis, "The
Position of Adam in Latter-day Saint's Scripture and Theology," is perhaps the most balanced,
though incomplete.

81Joseph Fielding Smith, op tit., 1:8. Smith's views on Adam-God also parallel those of Pratt.
See ibid., pp. 96-106.

82See Bruce R. McConkie, Mormon Doctrine, 2nd Edition (Salt Lake City: Bookcraft, Inc.,
1966), pp. 317-21, and 238-9, respectively.

"Several of Pratt's theories on the attributes of godliness and omnipresence of the Holy
Spirit were adapted by later church writers. See, Charles W. Penrose, Discourse, Salt Lake City,
16 November 1884, in JD 26:18-29; B. H. Roberts, The Seventy's Course in Theology, Third Year, The
Doctrine of Diety (1910), p. 198; and Hyrum L. Andrus, God, Man and the Universe (Salt Lake City:
Bookcraft, Inc., 1968), pp. 109-43.

MSee Robert J. Matthews, "A Plainer Translation": Joseph Smith's Translation of the Bible—A
History and Commentary (Provo, Utah: Brigham Young University Press, 1975); and Stephen R.
Knecht, The Story of Joseph Smith's Bible Translation—A Documented History (Salt Lake City: As-
sociated Research Consultants, 1977).

85In Richard L. Anderson's opinion, "Lucy Smith's memories of the early years of the rise of
Mormonism have a demonstrable degree of accuracy" (Richard L. Anderson, "Circumstantial
Confirmation of the First Vision Through Reminiscences," Brigham Young University Studies, Vol.
9 (Spring 1969), No. 3, p. 391).

86Augmenting their already existing differences were 1) ambiguous ecclesiastical jurisdic-
tions, 2) communication barriers resulting from Pratt's numerous missionary labors away from
Church headquarters, 3) the implicit need for unity within the quorums, 4) behavior regulations
ultimately imposed upon Pratt by Young, and 5) unresolved past conflict, particularly Pratt's
excommunication and reinstatement, and his initial opposition to the formation of the First
Presidency in 1847. (For this latter opposition, see "Minutes of Councils, Meetings, & Journey on
a mission to the Saints on the Pottawatomie Sands, Sunday, Dec. 5, 1847," Brigham Young
Collection, LDS Archives. Pratt, at the time, declared, "I do consider the head of this Ch[urch]
lays in the Apostleship united together—Paul says Apostles [are] set in the Church—not one
individual of the Apostles, without councilling on the subject. . . I consider that our Prest does
not control the Quorum." Pratt's convictions here also bear upon ambiguous ecclesiastical juris-
dictions. After some deliberation on the subject, Pratt seconded the motion that Young be ap-
pointed President of the Church.)

87Pratt's popularity continued to plague church leaders even after his death. On 11 June 1892,
President Wilford Woodruff addressed stake leaders at St. George, Utah. Several of the local
brethren had been "advancing false doctrine," that "it was right to worship the intelligence that
was in God the Eternal Father and not God." Woodruff refuted the idea, and went on to discuss
Pratt's previous excesses. President Woodruff

told of orson's unyielding stubbornes, and of upbraiding the twelve for not being manly,
for not declaring their views the way he looked at it, and branding them as cowards &c.
&c. spoke of the firmnes of Pres Young in correcting Orson Pratt and setting him aright,
of orsen wishing to resign his position in the Quorum, of Pres Young saying 'No you
wont orson I'll rub your ears until I get you right;' and had it not been for the firmess of
Pres Young in maintaining the Right, and assiduously laboring and showing him his
gross errors, Orson would have been out of the Church (Charles L. Walker Journal, 11
June 1892, op tit.).
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